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Issue Granted 
 

WHETHER WRONGFUL SEXUAL CONTACT WAS A 
LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF ABUSIVE SEXUAL 
CONTACT. 
 

Statement of Statutory Jurisdiction 

The Air Force Court of Criminal Appeals (AFCCA) reviewed this case 

under Article 66(c), Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), 10 U.S.C. 

§ 866(c).  This Court has jurisdiction under Article 67(a)(3), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. 

§ 867(a)(3). 

Statement of the Case 

A military judge sitting alone as a general court-martial convicted Senior 

Airman (SrA) Christopher L. Oliver, the Appellant, contrary to his plea of not-

guilty of five specifications of violating a general regulation in violation of Article 

92, UCMJ; a specification of wrongful sexual contact in violation of Article 120, 

UCMJ; a specification of non-forcible sodomy in violation of Article 125, UCMJ; 

and a specification of adultery on divers occasions in violation of Article 134, 

UCMJ.  Consistent with his plea of guilty, SrA Oliver was convicted of two 

specifications of violating a general regulation and a specification of dereliction of 

duty in violation of Article 92, UCMJ; and two specifications of adultery in 

violation of Article 134, UCMJ.  Joint Appendix (JA) 27. 
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 The military judge sentenced SrA Oliver to a dishonorable discharge, 

confinement for 24 months, and reduction to E-1.  JA 306.  On October 23, 2013, 

the convening authority approved the sentence as adjudged, while waiving 

mandatory forfeitures pursuant to Article 58b, UCMJ.  

On April 15, 2015, the AFCCA returned Appellant’s case to the Judge 

Advocate General to remand to the convening authority for new post-trial 

processing.  JA 2.  Subsequently, on February 24, 2016, AFCCA approved the 

findings and sentence.  JA 7.  SrA Oliver requested reconsideration on April 11, 

2016, noting the AFCCA’s opinion conflicted with its decision in United States v. 

Barlow, 2014 CCA LEXIS 166 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. Mar. 13, 2014) (unpub. op.) 

(Appendix), holding wrongful sexual contact was not a lesser-included offense of 

abusive sexual contact, which was summarily denied.  JA 21.  SrA Oliver filed a 

timely petition for review, which this Court granted on September 16, 2016. 

Statement of Facts 

 The charges in this case stemmed from an Air Force Office of Special 

Investigations (AFOSI) inquiry into the conduct of military training instructors 

(MTIs) conducting Basic Military Training (BMT) at Lackland Air Force Base, 

Texas. 

Basic Military Training 
 

BMT is an eight week indoctrination program for enlisted recruits.  JA 110.  
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New recruits are referred to as trainees while at BMT.  The fifth week of BMT is a 

field exercise known as “BEAST” week, where recruits are without their MTI.  JA 

119, 158.  Trainees are assigned to flights, which are further divided into elements.  

Leadership positions for trainees include several element leaders and one dorm 

chief over a flight.  The dorm chief has responsibility for the whole flight, and is—

in a way—like an “assistant MTI.”  JA 122.  Trainees who have not demonstrated 

their readiness to graduate BMT are “recycled,” meaning they are sent back to an 

earlier week of BMT.  JA 157. 

Trainee LMS1 entered BMT beginning May 16, 2011.  JA 88, 119; Sealed 

Joint Appendix (SJA) 8, 10.  She was assigned to a flight of 30 women.  JA 121.  

SrA Oliver, then a Staff Sergeant, was her flight’s MTI.  SJA 36. 

Unlike many of her fellow trainees, Trainee LMS had attended college.  JA 

159.  Trainee LMS’s colleagues described her as more confident than the other 

women.  JA 73.  She was immediately selected as one of the flight’s four element 

leaders.  JA 121; SJA 9.  Within days, Trainee LMS successfully lobbied SrA 

Oliver to elevate her to dorm chief, replacing a 35-year old female trainee, who 

was also Trainee LMS’s roommate.  JA 88, 90.  Trainee LMS persuaded SrA 

Oliver that her older female trainee was not “doing the best job,” because she was 

1 At the time of trial, LMS had promoted to the rank of Airman First Class (A1C), 
and changed her last name.  JA 220; SJA 43.  For clarity, this brief refers to her as 
“Trainee LMS.” 
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not “loud enough” to be the dorm chief, and Trainee LMS could “do it better.”  JA 

102, 122.   

Trainee LMS’s relationship with SrA Oliver 

Because of her responsibility as dorm chief, Trainee LMS spent longer 

periods in the flight office with SrA Oliver.  JA 62.  The flight office was 

connected to the dorms.  JA 205.  Trainee LMS acknowledged that because of her 

relationship with SrA Oliver, she received special privileges not allowed to other 

trainees.  JA 176.  She was allowed to keep her cellphone in her dorm room.  SJA 

21.  Trainee LMS saved SrA Oliver’s phone number in a fake contact, and would 

text him during training.  SJA 21.  Likewise, A1C Kathleeen Kent, a close friend 

of Trainee LMS during BMT, testified that Trainee LMS was allowed to use 

Facebook.  JA 218.  These special privileges afforded Trainee LMS were 

forbidden to other trainees.  JA 206. 

A few days after becoming dorm chief, Trainee LMS had a conversation 

with SrA Oliver while he was inspecting lockers.  During the conversation, the two 

discussed their favorite sexual positions.  JA 124, 161.  

After this conversation, Trainee LMS’s interactions with SrA Oliver 

escalated to touching, oral, and vaginal sex—all before the fifth week of BMT.  

According to Trainee LMS, the first touching occurred when she was in the flight 

office with SrA Oliver, and he reached across the desk and touched her groin while 
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she was standing at attention.  JA 132-33.  On approximately five occasions, SrA 

Oliver would come to the dorm room door and Trainee LMS would open the door 

slightly, standing there while SrA Oliver touched her groin.  JA 133-36.  On 

another occasion, Trainee LMS testified that SrA Oliver called her into his office, 

grabbed her hand, and placed it on his groin, where LMS could feel an erection.  

JA 137.   

On another occasion, Trainee LMS testified it was “possible” she was 

flirting with SrA Oliver in the flight office, and he pulled out his penis and asked 

her if she would perform oral sex on him.  JA 138, 171-72.  Trainee LMS 

performed the oral sex without saying “no” or objecting.  JA 139.  

Prior to the fifth week of training when the flight left SrA Oliver for the 

BEAST field exercise, SrA Oliver and Trainee LMS had sexual intercourse on 

several occasions in the flight office.  JA 113-14, 143-45, 148, 191-92.  One 

additional sexual encounter may have occurred after BEAST week.  JA 203-04.  

Trainee LMS conceded that she never told SrA Oliver “no” during their sexual 

encounters, and SrA Oliver never threatened LMS or forced himself upon her.  JA 

179.  She testified that the reason she never told SrA Oliver “no” was because she 

was scared to get in trouble.  JA 135, 140, 209.  

A1C Kent testified that she was Trainee LMS’s close friend at BMT, and 

that when she came out of SrA Oliver’s office, Trainee LMS seemed “happy and 
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giddish.”  JA 218.  Trainee LMS told A1C Kent that she liked SrA Oliver, found 

him attractive, and he reminded her of Trainee LMS’s fiancé, who was deployed at 

the time.  JA 218, 229.  For her part, Trainee LMS testified that SrA Oliver made 

her feel special because they were being sexual together, and she felt comfortable 

around him during the times SrA Oliver was not touching her in a sexual manner.  

JA 168-69, 190.   

In the seventh week of BMT, there was a potential that Trainee LMS would 

be “recycled,” back to the second week of BMT because the dorm failed an 

important inspection toward the end of training.  JA 67, 74, 226.  Trainee LMS was 

ultimately not recycled despite the inspection failure, and graduated from BMT 

July 18, 2011.  As she left BMT, A1C Kent testified that Trainee LMS was texting 

SrA Oliver.  JA 220-222.   

After graduating from BMT, Trainee LMS left for technical school in her 

career specialty as a pediatric medical technician.  JA 118, __.  Around three 

weeks after leaving BMT, Trainee LMS took sexually suggestive photographs of 

herself, and texted them to SrA Oliver.  JA 186-88; SJA 28. 

Trainee LMS reports a sexual assault over a year later 
 
LMS did not report for about a year.  JA 156.  LMS had the opportunity to 

report to OSI when another airman alleged being inappropriately touched by a 

different MTI, and LMS sat with her and the First Sergeant.  JA 180-81.  LMS 
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only made her allegations when OSI confronted her with the text messages she had 

sent SrA Oliver about a year later, and LMS realized she could get in trouble for 

the messages.  JA 182-83. LMS continued to text SrA Oliver after she had left 

BMT for technical school, and was not under SrA Oliver’s supervision anymore.  

JA 183-84.   

Trial proceedings 
 
During pretrial motions, the defense announced the intent to raise “consent 

as a defense to Charge II, Charge III and the Additional Charge, all of which 

Alleged Airman Oliver and Airman [LMS], engaged in sexual behavior against her 

consent, whether it was by force or by fear.” SJA 22-23.   

Prior to findings, the prosecution requested the military judge find that 

wrongful sexual contact was a lesser-included offense (LIO) of abusive sexual 

contact.  JA 233.  The defense did not object to the request.  JA 240.   

The prosecution’s charging strategy was based on “a constructive theory of 

force . . . that there was force exerted, not physical, but premised on that power, 

premised on that control that flowed from that position” of being an MTI.  JA 254. 

The defense addressed consent in its closing.  JA 267-68, 272, 274-75, 277.  

The military judge, before announcing the findings said, “In conducting analysis of 

the elements of the charged offenses and the requested lesser included offenses, the 

court was satisfied that the elements, while not precisely aligned by language, were 



8 

aligned sufficiently that it was appropriate to consider them as lesser included 

offenses.”  JA 286. 

The military judge found SrA Oliver not guilty of abusive sexual contact, 

but guilty of wrongful sexual contact.  JA 287.  The military judge said wrongful 

sexual contact was an LIO of abusive sexual contact.  JA 287. 

Argument 

WRONGFUL SEXUAL CONTACT REQUIRES THE 
GOVERNMENT TO PROVE LACK OF CONSENT, 
ACCORDINGLY IT CANNOT BE A LESSER INCLUDED 
OFFENSE OF ABUSIVE SEXUAL CONTACT, WHICH DOES 
NOT INCLUDE LACK OF CONSENT AS AN ELEMENT 

SrA Oliver was charged with abusive sexual contact.  The military judge 

acquitted him of that offense.  Instead, he found him guilty of wrongful sexual 

contact.  Because wrongful sexual contact has an element not present in the 

charged crime—lack of consent of the victim—it was reversible error to convict 

SrA Oliver of an uncharged offense.  The conviction for wrongful sexual contact 

must be set aside. 

Standard of Review 

Whether one offense is a lesser included of another offense is reviewed de 

novo.  United States v. Riggins, 75 M.J. 78, 82 (C.A.A.F. 2016). 
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Law 

When determining whether one offense is an LIO of another offense, the 

elements test from United States v. Jones, 68 M.J. 465, 470 (C.A.A.F 2010) 

applies. 

Under Article 79, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 879, “[a]n accused may be found 

guilty of an offense necessarily included in the offense charged.”  In determining 

that Article 79 requires an elements test, this Court has reasoned “the elements test 

for LIOs has the constitutionally sound consequence of ensuring that one can 

determine ex ante—solely from what one is charged with—all that one may need 

to defend against.” Jones, 68 M.J. at 472.  

The United States Supreme Court has articulated an elements test for 

interpreting the rule in federal civilian criminal trials stating that “one offense is 

not ‘necessarily included’ in another unless the elements of the lesser offense are a 

subset of the elements of the charged offense. Where the lesser offense requires an 

element not required for the greater offense, no instruction [regarding a lesser 

included offense] is to be given.” United States v. Alston, 69 M.J. 214, 216 

(C.A.A.F. 2010) (alteration in original) (quoting Schmuck v. United States, 489 

U.S. 705, 716 (1989)).  

This Court has held “[t]he due process principle of fair notice mandates that 

‘an accused has a right to know what offense and under what legal theory’ he will 
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be convicted; an LIO meets this notice requirement if ‘it is a subset of the greater 

offense alleged.’” Jones, 68 M.J. at 468 (quoting United States v. Medina, 66 M.J. 

21, 26–27 (C.A.A.F. 2008)). 

“The elements test does not require that the two offenses at issue employ 

identical statutory language.” Alston, 69 M.J. at 216. Instead, after applying the 

“normal principles of statutory construction,” the question is whether the elements 

of the alleged LIO are a subset of the elements for the charged offense. Id. (citing 

Carter v. United States, 530 U.S. 255, 263 (2000)).  In making a determination on 

LIO’s, “courts examine the offense ‘in the context of the charge at issue.’” Riggins, 

75 M.J. at 82 (quoting Alston, 69 M.J. at 216).  

A. The charging document, which alleges abusive sexual contact by 
fear, does not include the element of consent required for wrongful 
sexual contact. 

The specification alleging abusive sexual contact in violation of Article 120, 

UCMJ, provides as follows: 

In that Senior Airman Christopher L. Oliver . . . did at or near JBSA-
Lackland, Texas, on divers occasions, between on or about 15 May 
2011 and on or about 15 July 2011, engage in sexual contact to wit: 
groping the groin of Airman First Class [LMS] . . . by placing her in 
fear of an impact on her military career through the use and abuse of 
then Staff Sergeant Christopher L. Oliver’s military rank, position, 
and authority.  

JA 43.  Based on the date of the conduct alleged, the 2007-2012 version of Article 

120, UCMJ applies.   
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The applicable version of the Manual for Courts-Martial, United States 

(MCM), provides that the elements of abusive sexual contact by placing in fear 

are: (1) “That the accused engaged in sexual contact with another person”; and (2) 

“That the accused did so by . . . placing that other person in fear that any person 

would be subjected to . . . other harm . . . .”  MCM, Part IV, ¶ 45.b(8)(a) (2008 

ed.).   

The MCM likewise provides that the elements of wrongful sexual contact 

are: (1) “That the accused had sexual contact with another person”; (2) “That the 

accused did so without that other person's permission”; and (3) “That the accused 

had no legal justification or lawful authorization for that sexual contact.”  Id. ¶ 

45.b(13). 

In Riggins, this Court held “lack of consent is not an element of either of the 

sexual assault or abusive sexual contact offenses” that were charged—both 

alleging a theory of “placing [the victim] in fear”—based on the post-2012 version 

of Article 120, UCMJ.  75 M.J. at 81, 83.  Because lack of consent was not an 

element of either of these offenses—which alleged a theory of fear—assault 

consummated by a battery could not be an LIO because lack of consent is an 

element for assault consummated by a battery.  Id.  This was true notwithstanding 

that the government “was required to prove a set of facts that resulted in [the 
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victim’s] legal inability to consent” because she was alleged to have been placed in 

fear.  Id. at 84 (emphasis in original).    

Here, the same analysis leads to an identical result.  The military judge 

reversibly erred in finding SrA Oliver guilty of wrongful sexual contact because 

the charging instrument alleged abusive sexual contact by placing Trainee LMS in 

fear, which only required the government to prove her “legal inability to consent.”  

Id.  As in Riggins, this is not the “equivalent of the Government bearing the 

affirmative responsibility to prove that” Trainee LMS “did not, in fact, consent.”  

Id. (emphasis omitted).   

Although Riggins did “not foreclose the possibility that in other cases the 

government may charge an accused . . . in such a manner that assault consummated 

by a battery may be a lesser included offense,” the language of the specification 

tracks the identical theory of guilt in Riggins, i.e., placing the victim in fear.  Id. at 

85 n.7.  Charging an offense and theory of guilt similar to Riggins should lead to 

the same conclusion—an offense requiring the government to prove lack of 

consent as an element is not an LIO.  

Here, the wrongful sexual contact offense of which SrA Oliver stands 

convicted is not a proper LIO because it required the government to prove Trainee 

LMS’s lack of consent as an element.  MCM, Part IV, ¶ 45.b(13); see also id. ¶ 

45.a(r) (providing under the “Consent and mistake of fact as to consent” heading 
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that “[l]ack of permission is an element of the offense in subsection (m) (wrongful 

sexual contact)”). 

The second element of wrongful sexual contact charged here was “[t]hat the 

accused did so without that other person's permission.”  Id.  As noted by the 

AFCCA in Barlow, “Congress clearly intended ‘permission’ to be synonymous 

with ‘consent,’” thus the terms should be treated as such.  2014 CCA LEXIS 166, 

at *14-15 (citing United States v. Thompson, 2010 CCA LEXIS 269 (A.F. Ct. 

Crim. App. May 6, 2010) (unpub. op.) (Appendix). 

In Barlow, the AFCCA determined wrongful sexual contact was not an LIO 

of abusive sexual contact by placing in fear.  Id. at *24.  The court considered and 

rejected the argument that “an allegation that a victim is compelled to submit to 

sexual acts out of fear of reprisal includes as a subset that the victim is not 

consenting.”  Id. at *15.  The court observed that the 2007 Amendment to Article 

120, UCMJ “omitted ‘lack of consent’ as an element of virtually all sexual 

misconduct offenses, except the offense of wrongful sexual contact.”  Id. at *18.  

Because “Congress has unambiguously stated that consent is ‘not an issue’ in 

abusive sexual contact cases” the court held that “[w]ithout permission or consent 

cannot be necessarily included” in that offense.  Id. at *20.  

The AFCCA’s reasoning in Barlow is consistent with Riggins, and should be 

adopted here. 
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B. The military judge’s erroneous finding that wrongful sexual contact 
is a lesser-included offense of abusive sexual contact was neither 
waived, nor harmless. 
 

Despite the defense’s failure to object and efforts at trial to prove an 

affirmative defense of consent, the military judge’s error was not harmless because 

he relieved the government of its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt on the 

element of consent for the uncharged offense of wrongful sexual contact. 

This Court has considered “whether an accused’s conviction based upon an 

erroneous finding of an LIO constitutes plain error.”  United States v. McMurrin, 

70 M.J. 15, 17 (C.A.A.F. 2011); see also United States v. Girouard, 70 M.J. 5 

(C.A.A.F. 2001).  “[W]here the law at the time of trial was settled and clearly 

contrary to the law at the time of appeal -- it is enough that an error be plain at the 

time of appellate consideration.”  United States v. Harcrow, 66 M.J. 154, 159 

(C.A.A.F. 2008) (citation and quotation marks omitted); see also United States v. 

Elespuru, 73 M.J. 326 (C.A.A.F. 2014) (noting the presumption against waiver of 

constitutional rights).   

This Court has held that a failure to object to an improper LIO “forfeited, 

rather than waived, any error.” McMurrin, 70 M.J. at 18 (citation omitted); see also 

see also Harcrow, 66 M.J. at 161 (Ryan, J., concurring) (noting that applying the 

plain error rule retroactively requires the Court to pretend (1) that the new rule had 

existed at the time of trial, (2) that had counsel known about the new rule, he 
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would not have forfeited the objection, and (3) that the military judge, despite the 

new rule, would not have followed it). 

Here, for the reasons noted above, wrongful sexual contact is not an LIO of 

abusive sexual contact as charged in this case.  Accordingly, convicting SrA Oliver 

of the uncharged offense of wrongful sexual contact was clear and obvious error.  

As noted in McMurrin and Girouard, “the rights at issue in this context are 

substantial,” and implicate core due process rights protected by the Fifth and Sixth 

Amendment.  McMurrin, 70 M.J. at 19 (citations omitted).  

The government may argue that SrA Oliver presented evidence of consent at 

trial, and, therefore, the charge sheet’s failure to place SrA Oliver on legal notice to 

defend against wrongful sexual contact was harmless.  This is not so.  The record 

indicates SrA Oliver’s counsel intended to raise “consent” as an affirmative 

defense.  SJA 22-23.  The government maintained its theory throughout trial based 

on “a constructive theory of force . . . that there was force exerted, not physical, but 

premised on that power, premised on that control that flowed from that position” of 

being an MTI.  JA 254.   

The government did not, either by the language of the charging instrument 

or its conduct assume the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt on the 

element of consent.  This is so because, in a prosecution for abusive sexual contact, 

the government does not have to prove the absence of consent in order to secure a 
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conviction.  See United States v. Neal, 68 M.J. 289 (C.A.A.F. 2010).  This Court 

should decline any government invitation to speculate as to how the trial may have 

unfolded differently had proper notice been given.  See United States v. Gaskins, 

72 M.J. 225, 234 (C.A.A.F. 2013) (citing Dunn v. United States, 442 U.S. 100, 107 

(1979) (“[A]ppellate courts are not free to revise the basis on which a defendant is 

convicted simply because the same result would likely obtain on retrial."); Medina, 

66 M.J. at 27 (“[A]n appellate court may not affirm on a theory not presented to 

the trier of fact and adjudicated beyond a reasonable doubt.").   

Conclusion 

Appellant respectfully requests this Court set aside Appellant’s conviction 

for wrongful sexual contact and order a rehearing on the sentence. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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HOLDINGS: [1]-Convictions were 
improper because, under UCMJ art. 120, 10 
U.S.C.S. § 920(r) (2007), wrongful sexual 
contact is not a lesser included offense 
(LIO) under Unif. Code Mil. Justice art. 79, 
10 U.S.C.S. § 879, of abusive sexual contact 
and can never be an LIO of any other 
offense under art. 120; [2]-Evidence was 
sufficient to prove forcible sodomy under 
UCMJ art. 125, 10 U.S.C.S. § 925, because 
the alleged victim manifested her desire to 
stop performing oral sex by attempting to 
pull her head away and the servicemember 
forcibly held her head until he ejaculated; 
[3]-Evidence was sufficient to prove 
maltreatment under UCMJ art. 93, 10 
U.S.C.S. § 893, because the servicemember 
abused his authority by making repeated 
comments about the alleged victim's breasts, 
repeatedly asking to see her breasts, and 
touching her breasts without her permission 
while on patrol. 
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Outcome 
Findings as modified and sentence affirmed. 

Counsel: For the Appellant: Major 
Matthew T. King; Captain Luke D. Wilson; 
and James D. Culp, Esquire. 

For the United States: Colonel Don M. 
Christensen; Lieutenant Colonel C. Taylor 
Smith; Major Brian C. Mason; Major John 
M. Simms; Major Charles G. Warren; and 
Gerald R. Bruce, Esquire. 

Judges: Before ROAN, MARKSTEINER, 
and WIEDIE, Appellate Military Judges. 
ROAN, Chief Judge (concurring in part and 
dissenting in part). 

Opinion by: WIEDIE 

Opinion  

WIEDIE, Judge, with whom 
MARKSTEINER, SJ., joins: 

A general court-martial composed of a 
military judge sitting alone convicted the 
appellant, contrary to his pleas, of two 
specifications of maltreatment; two 
specifications of wrongful sexual contact1; 
one specification of indecent exposure; one 
specification of forcible sodomy; and one 
specification of indecent acts, in violation of 
Articles 93, 120, 125, and 134, UCMJ, 10 
U.S.C. §§ 893, 920, 925, 934. The adjudged 
sentence consisted of a dishonorable 
discharge, confinement for 36 months, and 
reduction to E-1.  [*2] With the exception of 
the automatic forfeitures, the convening 

1 The appellant was found not guilty of two specifications of abusive 
sexual contact, but guilty of the lesser included offense (LIO) of 
wrongful sexual contact for each specification.

authority approved the sentence as 
adjudged. 

On appeal, the appellant argues: (1) His 
convictions for wrongful sexual contact 
must be set aside because wrongful sexual 
contact is not a lesser included offense 
(LIO) of abusive sexual contact; (2) The 
evidence is factually and legally insufficient 
to prove his guilt of wrongful sexual 
contact, forcible sodomy, and maltreatment; 
(3) The military judge erred by improperly 
excluding Mil. R. Evid. 412 evidence 
concerning Airman First Class (A1C) GG's 
adulterous relationship with another airman; 
and (4) He received ineffective assistance of 
counsel. 

Background 

In February 2007, A1C KT arrived at her 
first duty station, Beale Air Force Base 
(AFB), California, and was assigned to the 
9th Security Forces Squadron (SFS). Upon 
arrival at Beale AFB, she was assigned to 
the same flight as the appellant. 

A1C KT and the appellant were frequently 
assigned to patrol together, as often as four 
times a week. As a  [*3] Staff Sergeant, the 
appellant was the senior patrolman when 
they teamed up and he was in charge of the 
vehicle. A typical patrol lasted 12 hours and 
consisted of driving a SFS vehicle around a 
sector of the base. 

During their shifts, the appellant and A1C 
KT would discuss a number of topics both 
duty-related and personal. Eventually, the 
appellant began making comments of a 
sexual nature to A1C KT. He would 
comment on the size of A1C KT's breasts 

http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GV11-NRF4-42BN-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GV11-NRF4-42BN-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GR91-NRF4-41PP-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GJM1-NRF4-422N-00000-00&context=


Page 3 of 22 
United States v. Barlow 

   

and ask her to show them to him. A1C KT 
did not report his comments; she did not 
believe anything would be done because she 
was just an airman and he was a 
noncommissioned officer (NCO) and also 
because of the "atmosphere" in the 9th SFS. 
In the presence of other squadron members, 
a squadron Captain had referred to A1C KT 
as "Tits McGee," and another Airman told 
her, "I just want to f[***] you." According 
to A1C KT, these comments elicited 
laughter from other squadron members. 

The appellant continued to make comments 
about A1C KT's breasts and ask to see 
them. In an attempt to get him to stop 
"bugging" her, A1C KT decided to show 
him her breasts. While in their patrol car, 
she lifted her shirt and bra, exposing her 
breasts. She immediately attempted  [*4] to 
pull down her shirt and bra again, but the 
appellant pushed her hands back up. He 
then grabbed her nipples and sucked on her 
breasts despite the fact she told him "no." 

Soon after this incident, A1C KT was 
tasked to deploy. She attended deployment 
training in July 2007 and proceeded to 
Camp Bucca, Iraq. The appellant was also 
tasked to deploy to Camp Bucca during the 
same time period. 

While deployed, A1C KT had various 
duties, one of which was to man a guard 
tower. Guard tower duty consisted of a four-
hour shift and was performed alone. When 
she was alone in the tower, the appellant 
would often visit and rub her legs and make 
comments about her body and her chest in 
particular. The appellant's conduct 
progressed to the point where he grabbed 

her hand and placed it on his penis, over his 
pants, and touched her between the legs 
over her clothing. On one occasion, he 
exposed his penis and put her hand on it. He 
also put his hand down her pants inside her 
underwear and touched her vulva. 

As at Beale AFB, A1C KT did not report 
the appellant's conduct because of concern 
about negative consequences if she did. She 
did, however, ask people to switch tower 
shifts with her and asked roving patrols 
 [*5] to remain at the tower with her in order 
to avoid being alone with him. 

While A1C KT was manning a tower one 
evening, the appellant arrived and became 
even more persistent than he had been other 
times, repeatedly asking A1C KT to 
perform oral sex on him. She told him "no" 
multiple times. The appellant remained at 
the tower for approximately two hours. 
Throughout the evening, he kept asking 
A1C KT to perform oral sex on him. At one 
point he told her that if she gave him a 
"blow job" he would "leave her alone 
forever." Thinking she could get him to 
leave her alone, A1C KT initially agreed to 
perform oral sex. The appellant exposed his 
penis and A1C KT put her mouth on it. As 
soon as she took the appellant's penis in her 
mouth, she changed her mind and attempted 
to pull her head back. To prevent her from 
pulling away, the appellant put his hands on 
the back of A1C KT's head and pushed her 
down on his penis. She continued to try to 
pull away, and he continued to prevent her 
from doing so until he ejaculated. When he 
finally released his grip on A1C KT's head, 
she fell over backwards because she had 
been attempting to pull away. After the 
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incident, A1C KT vomited over the side of 
the tower  [*6] and the appellant left. 

A1C GG arrived at Beale AFB in 2010. She 
was 17 years old and, like A1C KT, fresh 
out of technical school when she was 
assigned to the 9th SFS. A1C GG's 
impression of the appellant was that he was 
an NCO who could have an impact on the 
career of a young Airman. A1C GG first 
met the appellant at a squadron booster club 
meeting. At his request, she got pizza for 
him during the meeting. Following the 
meeting, the appellant obtained A1C GG's 
cell phone number from the unit recall 
roster or unit board and called her. She did 
not answer the call. He left a message 
thanking her for getting him pizza, but also 
asked why she had not answered her phone. 

On 26 August 2010, following their initial 
meeting, the appellant and A1C GG began 
exchanging numerous e-mails as well as 
text messages. On that first day they 
exchanged 100 e-mails and the appellant 
steered the dialogue in a direction of a 
sexual nature, asking A1C GG what type of 
underwear she was wearing. They also 
discussed going to lunch or dinner together 
at some point. 

On 27 August 2010, the appellant picked 
A1C GG up on base and drove to an off-
base Burger King. The pair went through 
the drive-thru and A1C GG paid  [*7] for 
both lunches. On the drive back to base, the 
appellant pulled into the parking lot of a 
vacant store. After they parked, he placed a 
sunscreen in the window of the vehicle. 
They talked for a little while before the 
appellant attempted to kiss A1C GG. When 

she pulled away from him, he pulled her 
face to his and they kissed for a brief period 
of time. He then moved his hand to her belt, 
but she told him, "No, I don't work like 
that." The appellant responded by undoing 
his pants and exposing his penis. He asked 
A1C GG if she liked it and wanted to touch 
it. She shook her head "no." 

The appellant put his penis back in his pants 
and climbed into the back seat of his 
vehicle. From the backseat, he reached 
around A1C GG and touched her breasts 
over her uniform. She attempted to shift her 
feet, and when she did so, he pulled her into 
the back seat. The appellant pulled A1C 
GG's ABU top down so that it rested at her 
elbows and fondled her breasts. After the 
appellant withdrew his hand from her shirt 
and while A1C GG was attempting to put 
her ABU top back on, he put his hand down 
the front of her pants, under her underwear, 
and touched her vulva. 

Following this incident, the appellant drove 
 [*8] back to base and dropped A1C GG off 
near the squadron. They exchanged 
numerous e-mails during the rest of the 
afternoon, in which A1C GG gave the 
impression that she liked what had 
happened and wanted more to occur. She 
later explained she did so because she was 
afraid of what the appellant would do if she 
indicated she had a problem with what had 
happened. An additional 78 e-mails were 
exchanged between them on Monday, 30 
August 2010. 

After returning to the squadron following 
the 27 August 2010 lunch incident, A1C 
GG encountered her friend and fellow 



Page 5 of 22 
United States v. Barlow 

   

squadron member, Airman (Amn) JC. Amn 
JC noticed that A1C GG was shaking and 
was "wide eyed like she was holding a 
secret." A1C GG told Amn JC what had 
transpired in the parking lot on the way 
back from lunch. 

On 28 August 2010, A1C GG also told her 
fiancé at the time, A1C AK, what had 
happened. A1C GG and A1C AK had met 
just before starting tech school. At the time 
of the conversation, A1C AK was stationed 
at Incirlik Air Base, Turkey. 

On 27 August 2010, A1C GG told Senior 
Airman (SrA) BM that the appellant 
sexually assaulted her. SrA BM reported the 
assault to his chain of command 
approximately three weeks later. 
Eventually, the Air Force  [*9] Office of 
Special Investigations (AFOSI) was notified 
and an investigation was initiated. SrA BM 
was A1C GG's sponsor when she arrived at 
Beale AFB. Although there was 
disagreement as to the exact start date, at 
some point on or after 29 August 2010, SrA 
BM and A1C GG became romantically 
involved despite the fact SrA BM was 
married to another woman at the time. The 
affair was discovered during the 
investigation of the appellant's assault of 
A1C GG. Both A1C GG and SrA BM were 
disciplined for the improper relationship. At 
the time of trial, A1C GG was pregnant 
with SrA BM's child. 

The appellant was brought in for 
questioning by agents from AFOSI on 22 
October 2010. At the outset of the 
interview, an AFOSI agent read the 
appellant his Article 31, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 

831, rights. After the rights advisement, the 
appellant was asked if he wanted a lawyer. 
He stated he wanted a lawyer but that he 
was willing to answer questions because he 
did not understand what was going on. The 
AFOSI agent sought to clarify with the 
appellant whether he wanted to stop the 
questioning and speak with a lawyer or 
whether he wanted to answer questions. The 
appellant asked if he would be able to stop 
the questioning  [*10] at any point if he later 
decided he wanted to consult with an 
attorney. The AFOSI agent responded that 
the appellant had the right to stop the 
questioning at any point. Following this 
clarification, the appellant stated he did not 
want a lawyer at that time and was willing 
to answer questions. 

Prior to trial, trial defense counsel requested 
the Government produce A1C AK as a 
witness at the appellant's court-martial. Trial 
defense counsel proffered that A1C AK 
would testify about inconsistent statements 
made by A1C GG concerning the sexual 
assault and his opinion that A1C GG had a 
bad character for truthfulness. Trial defense 
counsel did not pursue a motion to compel 
production of A1C AK when the 
Government failed to produce him as a 
witness. Because of issues with A1C AK's 
travel arrangements, the defense would have 
had to request a delay of a day or two to 
have him produced as a witness. 

During the preliminary Article 39(a), 
UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 839(a), session, the 
Government sought to add the terminal 
element to both Article 134, UCMJ, 
specifications (Specifications 1 and 2 of 
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Additional Charge III).2 Trial defense 
counsel believed the changes to be major 
changes, but did not object to the 
 [*11] addition of the language to the two 
relevant specifications. The appellant was 
ultimately convicted of Specification 2 of 
Additional Charge III. 

The appellant was initially charged with 
allegedly committing an indecent act with a 
third individual, Ms. JI. In an attempt to 
accommodate the personal schedule of Ms. 
JI, the Government arranged her travel so 
she would arrive at a time the Government 
believed they would be near the end of their 
case-in-chief. The court-martial started on 
22 June 2011 and proceeded more quickly 
than the Government had anticipated. The 
Government's last witness finished 
testifying at approximately 0915 on 23 June 
2011. Ms. JI was not scheduled to arrive in 
the local area until late in the evening on 23 
June 2011. The Government asked for a 
continuance until the next day to await the 
arrival of Ms. JI, which trial defense counsel 
opposed. The military judge denied the 
continuance  [*12] request and the 
Government was forced to rest their case-in-
chief. Trial defense counsel immediately 
made a motion for a finding of not guilty 
pursuant to Rule for Courts-Martial 
(R.C.M.) 917 with respect to the 
specification related to Ms. JI. The military 
judge granted the defense motion. 

Wrongful Sexual Contact as an LIO of 

                                                 
2 The Government added the following language to both 
Specifications of Additional Charge III: "and that under the 
circumstances, the conduct of the accused was to the prejudice of 
good order and discipline in the armed forces or was of a nature to 
bring discredit upon the armed forces." 

Abusive Sexual Contact 

The appellant was charged with two 
specifications of abusive sexual contact for 
fondling the breasts and touching the vulva 
of A1C GG by placing her in fear of reprisal 
by using his rank and military position. He 
was found not guilty of these Article 120, 
UCMJ, offenses but, with respect to both, 
was found guilty of the LIO of wrongful 
sexual contact, also under Article 120, 
UCMJ. The appellant asserts the military 
judge erred in concluding wrongful sexual 
contact is an LIO of abusive sexual contact. 

"An accused may be found guilty of an 
offense necessarily included in the offense 
charged." Article 79, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 
879. Article 79, UCMJ, requires application 
of the elements test to determine whether 
one offense is an LIO of a charged offense. 
United States v. Jones, 68 M.J. 465, 472 
(C.A.A.F. 2010). Under the elements test, 
"the elements  [*13] of the lesser offense 
[must be] a subset of the elements of the 
charged offense. Where the lesser offense 
requires an element not required for the 
greater offense, no instruction [regarding a 
lesser included offense] is to be given." 
United States v. Alston, 69 M.J. 214, 216 
(C.A.A.F. 2010) (alteration in original) 
(quoting Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 
705, 716, 109 S. Ct. 1443, 103 L. Ed. 2d 
734 (1989)). "The due process principle of 
fair notice mandates that 'an accused has a 
right to know what offense and under what 
legal theory' he will be convicted; an LIO 
meets this notice requirement if 'it is a 
subset of the greater offense alleged.'" 
Jones, 68 M.J. at 468 (quoting United States 
v. Medina, 66 M.J. 21, 26-27 (C.A.A.F. 
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2008)). 

However, "the elements test does not 
require that the two offenses at issue employ 
identical statutory language." Alston, 69 
M.J. at 216. Instead, after applying the 
"normal principles of statutory 
construction," the question is whether the 
elements of the alleged LIO are a subset of 
the elements for the charged offense. Id. 
(quoting Carter v. United States, 530 U.S. 
255, 263, 120 S. Ct. 2159, 147 L. Ed. 2d 
203 (2000)). 

Thus, the first step is to determine the 
elements of the charged offense and the 
alleged LIO by applying  [*14] the 
principles of statutory construction. The 
second step is to compare the elements of 
the two offenses to see if the latter is a 
subset of the former. 

The first specification at issue alleged, 
under Article 120, UCMJ, that the appellant 
touched the breasts of A1C GG by placing 
her in fear of reprisal. The second 
specification at issue alleged the appellant 
touched the vulva of A1C GG by placing 
her in fear of reprisal. The elements of 
abusive sexual contact by placing in fear 
are: 

(1) That the accused engaged in sexual 
contact with another person; and 

(2) That the accused did so by placing 
that other person in fear of reprisal. 

The elements of wrongful sexual contact 
are: 

(1) That the accused had sexual contact 
with another person; 

(2) That the accused did so without that 
other person's permission; and 

(3) That the accused had no legal 
justification or lawful authorization for 
that sexual contact. 

Applying the elements test in this case, the 
first element of both offenses is the same. 
The question then turns to whether "without 
permission" is included within the second 
element of abusive sexual contact. As a 
preliminary matter, we note that Congress 
clearly intended "permission" to be 
synonymous  [*15] with "consent," and thus 
we will treat the terms as such in our 
analysis. See United States v. Thompson, 
ACM 37443, 2010 CCA LEXIS 269 (A.F. 
Ct. Crim. App. 6 May 2010) (unpub. op.). 

Applying the common and ordinary 
understanding of these words, it would 
appear that an allegation that a victim is 
compelled to submit to sexual acts out of 
fear of reprisal includes as a subset that the 
victim is not consenting. A strong argument 
can be made that, if an individual only 
submits to an act out of fear, then it cannot 
be said that he consented or gave permission 
to the act in question. In fact, this logic 
would appear to apply to all three ways in 
which abusive sexual contact can occur: (1) 
by use of threat or placing in fear; (2) by 
causing bodily harm; or (3) upon a person 
who is substantially incapacitated or 
substantially incapable of appraising the act, 
declining participation, or communicating 
unwillingness. 

Notwithstanding the "common sense" 
appeal of such an argument, it is undercut 
by the Manual for Courts-Martial's 
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treatment of the issue of whether wrongful 
sexual contact is an LIO of abusive sexual 
contact. As noted above, the first element of 
these two offenses essentially mirror each 
other. If every  [*16] case that satisfies the 
second element of abusive sexual contact 
ipso facto results in a conclusion of lack of 
permission or consent, then one would 
assume that in all cases wrongful sexual 
contact would be an LIO of abusive sexual 
contact. However, paragraph 45(d)(8) of the 
Manual (the "lesser included offenses" 
section) does not list wrongful sexual 
contact as an LIO of abusive sexual contact. 
Manual for Courts-Martial, United States 
(MCM), Part IV, ¶ 45.d.(8) (2008 ed.). 
Instead, paragraph 45(e), which is titled 
"additional lesser included offenses," states 
"[d]epending on the factual circumstances 
in [the] case," wrongful sexual contact 
"may" be considered an LIO of abusive 
sexual contact. MCM, ¶ 45.e.(8). This 
treatment of the LIO issue suggests that in 
some, but not all situations, depending on 
the facts, the second element of abusive 
sexual contact can be proven even in the 
absence of evidence that would satisfy the 
second element of wrongful sexual contact. 

Even more troubling for the "common 
sense" approach forwarded above is 
Congress' specific treatment of the issue 
within the statutory language of Article 120, 
UCMJ. We must consider what Congress 
has said on the matter because 
 [*17] Congress has broad authority to 
define the elements of offenses under the 
constitutional power to make rules for the 
Government and regulation of the armed 
forces. U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 14; see 
Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 733, 756, 94 S. Ct. 

2547, 41 L. Ed. 2d 439 (1974); see also 
Weiss v. United States, 510 U.S. 163, 177, 
114 S. Ct. 752, 127 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1994). 
Furthermore, the Supreme Court has 
"observed that '[t]he definition of the 
elements of a criminal offense is entrusted 
to the legislature, particularly in the case of 
federal crimes, which are solely creatures of 
statute.'" Dixon v. United States, 548 U.S. 1, 
7, 126 S. Ct. 2437, 165 L. Ed. 2d 299 (2006) 
(alteration in original) (quoting Liparota v. 
United States, 471 U.S. 419, 424, 105 S. Ct. 
2084, 85 L. Ed. 2d 434 (1985)). 

In analyzing the issue at hand, we must first 
give all terms used their plain and ordinary 
meaning. If an ambiguity exists, we must 
examine the legislative history to resolve 
the ambiguity. If, after applying the first two 
steps, doubt still exists as to the provision's 
intent, we must apply the rule of lenity and 
resolve the ambiguity in favor of the 
appellant. See Moskal v. United States, 498 
U.S. 103, 111 S. Ct. 461, 112 L. Ed. 2d 449 
(1990); see also United States v. Thomas, 
65 M.J. 132, 135 n.2 (C.A.A.F. 2007) 
(noting rule of statutory strict construction 
and resolving  [*18] any ambiguity in favor 
of accused); United States v. Hunter, 65 
M.J. 399, 401 (C.A.A.F. 2008) ("Ordinary 
rules of statutory construction apply in 
interpreting the R.C.M."); United States v. 
Custis, 65 M.J. 366, 370 (C.A.A.F. 2007) 
(recognizing that normal rules of statutory 
construction apply to the Manual in general 
and Military Rules of Evidence in 
particular); United States v. Lewis, 65 M.J. 
85, 88 (C.A.A.F. 2007) (The courts "use 
well-established rules of statutory 
construction to construe the Manual for 
Courts-Martial."). If the statute's language 
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is plain, then "[i]t is well established that . . . 
the sole function of the courts—at least 
where the disposition required by the text is 
not absurd—is to enforce it according to its 
terms." Lamie v. United States Trustee, 540 
U.S. 526, 534, 124 S. Ct. 1023, 157 L. Ed. 
2d 1024 (2004) (internal quotation marks 
omitted); see also Lewis, 65 M.J. at 88. 

The 2007 amendment to Article 120, 
UCMJ, omitted "lack of consent" as an 
element of virtually all sexual misconduct 
offenses, except the offense of wrongful 
sexual contact. This change from the 
previous version of Article 120, UCMJ, 
brought the UCMJ sexual misconduct 
provisions into alignment with similar 
provisions applicable  [*19] in the United 
States District Courts. See Analysis of 
Punitive Articles, MCM, A23-15. 
Specifically, Article 120(r), UCMJ, 
provides: 

Lack of permission is an element of the 
offense . . . [of wrongful sexual contact]. 
Consent and mistake of fact as to 
consent are not an issue, or an 
affirmative defense, in a prosecution 
under any other subsection, except they 
are an affirmative defense for the sexual 
conduct in issue in a prosecution . . . [for 
abusive sexual contact]. 

(emphasis added). 

The limited legislative history suggests this 
revision was intended to focus the finder of 
fact on the accused's conduct, instead of the 
victim's conduct or state of mind.3 The text 
                                                 

3 See Analysis of Punitive Articles, Manual for Courts-Martial, 
United States, A23-15 (2008 ed.) (noting amendments based on 18 
U.S.C. §§ 2241-45); 151 CONG. REC. H12210 (December 18, 2005) 

of Article 120(r), UCMJ, reflects this 
change in focus very clearly. 

We must assume Congress intended and 
understood the effect  [*20] of omitting 
"lack of consent" as an element of the 
offense. See United States v. Wilson, 66 
M.J. 39, 45-46 (C.A.A.F. 2008). According 
to the plain language of Congress, wrongful 
sexual contact requires proof of an element, 
i.e. without permission, that abusive sexual 
contact does not. This additional proof 
requirement mandates a conclusion that 
wrongful sexual contact cannot be 
considered an LIO of abusive sexual contact 
under the test articulated in Blockburger v. 
United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S. Ct. 
180, 76 L. Ed. 306 (1932). Without 
permission or consent cannot be necessarily 
included in the elements of abusive sexual 
contact when Congress has unambiguously 
stated that consent is "not an issue" in 
abusive sexual contact cases, regardless of 
the common sense appeal of an argument to 
the contrary. While the scope of the 
meaning of "not an issue" can be open to 
some interpretation, even the narrowest 
reading of the language requires a 
conclusion that "without consent" or 
"permission" is not an element of abusive 
sexual contact. 

In a prosecution for abusive sexual contact, 
the Government does not have to prove the 
absence of consent in order to secure a 
conviction. See United States v. Neal, 68 
M.J. 289 (C.A.A.F. 2010).  [*21] Under the 

                                                                                     
(statement of Rep. Loretta Sanchez); Markup of the Defense 
Authorization Bill: Hearing before the Military Personnel 
Subcommittee of the House Armed Services Committee (May 11, 
2005) (statement of Rep. John McHugh). 

http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4BJD-D5C0-004B-Y02X-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4BJD-D5C0-004B-Y02X-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4BJD-D5C0-004B-Y02X-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4BJD-D5C0-004B-Y02X-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4NYY-1TH0-TXFN-Y25W-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4NYY-1TH0-TXFN-Y25W-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GJ11-NRF4-40YR-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GJ11-NRF4-40YR-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4S1C-N1G0-TX4N-G0PW-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4S1C-N1G0-TX4N-G0PW-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4S1C-N1G0-TX4N-G0PW-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-D290-003B-7443-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-D290-003B-7443-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-D290-003B-7443-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-D290-003B-7443-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:7XNH-NYS0-Y9NK-S2KM-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:7XNH-NYS0-Y9NK-S2KM-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:7XNH-NYS0-Y9NK-S2KM-00000-00&context=


Page 10 of 22 
United States v. Barlow 

   

structure of the version of Article 120, 
UCMJ, in effect at the time of the alleged 
offenses in this case, the absence of consent 
or permission was not a fact necessary to 
prove the offense of abusive sexual contact. 
Evidence that the alleged victim consented 
would be relevant to the factfinder's 
determination of whether the Government 
proved the element of "by fear" beyond a 
reasonable doubt, but it was not necessary 
under the law. Article 120(r), UCMJ, does 
not preclude introduction of evidence of 
consent as a "subsidiary fact" pertinent to 
the prosecution's burden to prove an 
element of abusive sexual contact beyond a 
reasonable doubt, but it also does not 
require the Government to introduce any 
evidence of lack of consent or permission to 
prove the elements of the offense beyond a 
reasonable doubt. See Neal, 68 M.J. at 302. 
In short, under the plain language 
articulated by Congress, the Government 
can prove each element of abusive sexual 
contact beyond a reasonable doubt without 
introducing any evidence related to lack of 
permission or consent. 

In analyzing whether wrongful sexual 
contact is an LIO of any other offense in 
Article 120, UCMJ, our sister courts have 
reached  [*22] conflicting decisions. See 
United States v. Honeycutt, Army 20080589, 
2010 CCA LEXIS 104 at *5 (Army Ct. Crim. 
App. 1 September 2010) (finding wrongful 
sexual contact was not an LIO of rape by 
force because "[t]he elements of rape by 
force do not include any, let alone all, of the 
elements of wrongful sexual contact"); 
United States v. Wagner, Army 20111064, 
2013 CCA LEXIS 573 at *15 (Army Ct. 
Crim. App. 29 July 2013) (holding wrongful 

sexual contact is an LIO of the offense of 
aggravated sexual assault but not under the 
particular facts of that case); United States 
v. Prothro, Army 20110331, 2013 CCA 
LEXIS 293 at *5-6 (Army Ct. Crim. App. 29 
March 2013) ("In this case, wrongful sexual 
contact does not qualify as a lesser-included 
offense because that offense requires an 
element [without the other person's 
permission] not required for the greater 
offense of abusive sexual contact caused 
solely by fear."); United States v. Johanson, 
71 M.J. 688, 693 (C.G. Ct. Crim. App. 
2012) (concluding wrongful sexual contact 
is an LIO of abusive sexual contact of a 
person substantially incapable of declining 
participation because "[s]urely a lack of 
consent is inherent in substantial 
incapability of declining participation"); 
 [*23] and United States v. Medina, 68 M.J. 
587 (N.M. Ct. Crim. App. 2009) (Beal, J., 
dissenting in part and concurring in part) 
(observing that wrongful sexual contact was 
an LIO of aggravated sexual assault because 
"the Manual for Courts-Martial itself 
validates the notion that 'lack of consent' is 
an implicit element to aggravated sexual 
assault" in recognizing wrongful sexual 
contact as a potential lesser included offense 
in paragraph 45(e)(8)). 

This Court has previously found wrongful 
sexual contact to be an LIO of a different 
Article 120, UCMJ, charge (aggravated 
sexual assault). See United States v. Pitman, 
ACM 37453, 2011 CCA LEXIS 93 at *11 
(A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 19 May 2011) ("[A]n 
allegation that a victim is compelled to 
submit to sexual acts by force clearly 
includes as a subset that the victim is not 
consenting."). The Court of Appeals for the 
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Armed Forces has not squarely answered 
whether wrongful sexual contact can ever 
be an LIO of any other Article 120, UCMJ, 
charge. Based on our reading of the plain 
language of Congress that lack of consent or 
permission is not an element of any offense 
under Article 120, UCMJ, except wrongful 
sexual contact, we conclude today that 
wrongful sexual contact  [*24] can never be 
an LIO of any other offense under Article 
120, UCMJ.4 

Factual and Legal Sufficiency 

The appellant further argues the evidence 
was factually and legally insufficient to 
support his conviction of both specifications 
of wrongful sexual contact with A1C GG5 
as well as forcible sodomy of A1C KT and 
maltreatment of A1C KT. We review issues 
of factual and legal sufficiency de novo. 
United States v. Washington, 57 M.J. 394, 
399 (C.A.A.F. 2002). 

The test for factual sufficiency is "whether, 
after weighing the evidence in the record of 
trial and making  [*25] allowances for not 
having personally observed the witnesses, 
[we are] convinced of the [appellant]'s guilt 
beyond a reasonable doubt." United States 
v. Turner, 25 M.J. 324, 325 (C.M.A. 1987), 
quoted in United States v. Reed, 54 M.J. 37, 

                                                 

4 Our holding applies, of course, to the law in effect at the time of the 
charged offenses. Since then, Article 120, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 920, 
has been revised again. See Analysis of Punitive Articles, Manual for 
Courts-Martial, United States, A23-15 (2012 ed.) ("The 2012 
amendments . . . simplified the structure of the definition and deleted 
restrictions regarding the use of consent evidence."). 
5 Because of our determination that wrongful sexual contact is not an 
LIO of abusive sexual contact, we do not need to consider the issue 
of whether the evidence was factually and legally sufficient to 
support the wrongful sexual contact convictions. 

41 (C.A.A.F. 2000). In conducting this 
unique appellate role, we take "a fresh, 
impartial look at the evidence," applying 
"neither a presumption of innocence nor a 
presumption of guilt" to "make [our] own 
independent determination as to whether the 
evidence constitutes proof of each required 
element beyond a reasonable doubt." 
Washington, 57 M.J. at 399. 

The test for legal sufficiency of the evidence 
is "whether, considering the evidence in the 
light most favorable to the prosecution, a 
reasonable factfinder could have found all 
the essential elements beyond a reasonable 
doubt." Turner, 25 M.J. at 324, quoted in 
United States v. Humpherys, 57 M.J. 83, 94 
(C.A.A.F. 2002). "[I]n resolving questions 
of legal sufficiency, we are bound to draw 
every reasonable inference from the 
evidence of record in favor of the 
prosecution." United States v. Barner, 56 
M.J. 131, 134 (C.A.A.F. 2001) (citing 
United States v. Rogers, 54 M.J. 244, 246 
(C.A.A.F. 2006); United States v. Blocker, 
32 M.J. 281, 284 (C.M.A. 1991)).  [*26] Our 
assessment is limited to the evidence 
produced at trial. United States v. Dykes, 38 
M.J. 270, 272 (C.M.A. 1993). 

I. Forcible Sodomy of A1C KT 

Although she initially agreed to perform 
oral sex on the appellant in an attempt to get 
him to leave her alone, A1C KT almost 
immediately decided she did not want to 
continue. She manifested her desire to stop 
by attempting to pull her head away from 
the appellant's groin area. The appellant 
would not allow her to do so and forcibly 
held her head until he ejaculated. The 
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evidence factually and legally supports a 
finding of guilty with respect to this offense. 

The defense argues the evidence related to 
the wrongful sexual contact charges 
involving A1C GG essentially propped up 
the allegation of forcible sodomy with A1C 
KT and without that evidence the appellant 
would not have been convicted of forcible 
sodomy. 

We disagree with the appellant's suggestion 
that a military judge would have difficulty 
evaluating the charges separately. A 
military judge is presumed to know and 
follow the law. See United States v. 
Kinman, 25 M.J. 99, 100-01 (C.M.A. 1987). 
Through training and experience, a military 
judge sitting as a factfinder is less 
susceptible to  [*27] the dangers of 
"impermissible spillover" than an 
inexperienced lay court member. Also, the 
evidence supporting the forcible sodomy 
charge in this case was strong. We are 
confident the military judge based his 
findings on that evidence and not general 
notions that the appellant was a bad actor, as 
demonstrated by other misdeeds. In fact, the 
military judge acquitted the appellant of 
abusive sexual contact. We are not 
persuaded that this is the rare case where the 
evidence and the nature of the charges have 
overcome the military judge's ability to 
avoid the prejudicial use of evidence. Id. 

As he did at trial, the appellant argues the 
evidence is insufficient to find him guilty of 
forcible sodomy because it reveals A1C KT 
consented to the oral sex that occurred 
between on or about 1 September 2007 and 
on or about 30 November 2007. Having 

weighed the evidence in the record of trial, 
with allowances for not having personally 
observed the witnesses, including A1C KT, 
we are personally convinced of the 
appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Similarly, we find a reasonable factfinder 
could have found all the essential elements 
beyond a reasonable doubt. 

II. Maltreatment of A1C KT 

The court-martial  [*28] convicted the 
appellant of two specifications of 
maltreatment of a subordinate, in violation 
of Article 93, UCMJ. Both specifications 
involved A1C KT; one with an alleged situs 
of Beale AFB and the other with a situs of 
Iraq. The elements of maltreatment are: (1) 
that a certain person was subject to the 
orders of the accused; and (2) the accused 
was cruel toward, or oppressed, or 
maltreated that person. MCM, Part IV, ¶ 
17.b. "The essence of the offense [of 
maltreatment] is abuse of authority." United 
States v. Carson, 57 M.J. 410, 415 
(C.A.A.F. 2002). Measured from an 
objective viewpoint in light of the totality of 
the circumstances, the charged acts must be 
such that they "reasonably could have 
caused physical or mental harm or 
suffering" but the offense does not require 
proof of "actual physical and mental pain or 
suffering." Id. The appellant argues the 
evidence is insufficient to show an abuse of 
authority. 

We find the evidence legally and factually 
sufficient to support the conviction of 
maltreatment. Under the totality of the 
circumstances in this case, the appellant 
abused his authority by making repeated 

http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-6010-003S-G4WT-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-6010-003S-G4WT-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-6010-003S-G4WT-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GV11-NRF4-42BN-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:46WX-6PM0-003S-G03K-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:46WX-6PM0-003S-G03K-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:46WX-6PM0-003S-G03K-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:46WX-6PM0-003S-G03K-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:46WX-6PM0-003S-G03K-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:46WX-6PM0-003S-G03K-00000-00&context=


Page 13 of 22 
United States v. Barlow 

   

comments about A1C KT's breasts, 
repeatedly asking to see her breasts, 
 [*29] and touching her breasts without her 
permission while on patrol at Beale AFB, 
and by making comments about A1C KT's 
body, touching her body, and repeatedly 
requesting oral sex from A1C KT while 
deployed to Iraq. The appellant's actions 
reasonably could have caused mental harm 
or suffering in that A1C KT was clearly 
concerned by the appellant's actions. After 
weighing the evidence and making 
allowances for not having observed the 
witnesses, we are convinced of the 
appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Likewise, we find a reasonable factfinder 
could have found all the essential elements 
beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Exclusion of Mil. R. Evid. 412 Evidence 

We review the military judge's ruling on 
whether to exclude evidence pursuant to 
Mil. R. Evid. 412 for an abuse of discretion. 
United States v. Roberts, 69 M.J. 23, 26 
(C.A.A.F. 2010). Findings of fact are 
reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard 
and conclusions of law are reviewed de 
novo. Id. 

Mil. R. Evid. 412 states that evidence 
offered by the accused to prove the alleged 
victim's sexual predispositions, or that she 
engaged in other sexual behavior, is 
inadmissible except in limited contexts. Mil. 
R. Evid. 412(a)-(b). The rule  [*30] "is 
intended to 'shield victims of sexual assaults 
from the often embarrassing and degrading 
cross-examination and evidence 
presentations common to [sexual offense 
prosecutions].'" United States v. Gaddis, 70 

M.J. 248, 252 (C.A.A.F. 2011) (alteration in 
original) (quoting Analysis of the Military 
Rules of Evidence, MCM, A22-35). While 
there are three exceptions set out in the rule, 
we are concerned only with the third, which 
states that the evidence is admissible if "the 
exclusion of [it] would violate the 
constitutional rights of the accused." Mil. R. 
Evid. 412(b)(1)(C). 

The exception for constitutionally required 
evidence in Mil. R. Evid. 412(b)(1)(C) 
includes the accused's Sixth Amendment6 
right to confrontation. United States v. 
Banker, 60 M.J. 216, 221 (C.A.A.F. 2004) 
(citing Weinstein's Federal Evidence § 
412.03 [4][a] (2d ed. 2003)), abrogated by 
Gaddis, 70 M.J. 248. An accused has a 
constitutional right "to be confronted by the 
witnesses against him." U.S. CONST. amend. 
VI. That right necessarily includes the right 
to cross-examine those witnesses. Davis v. 
Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 315, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 
39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974) (citing Douglas v. 
Alabama, 380 U.S. 415, 418, 85 S. Ct. 1074, 
13 L. Ed. 2d 934 (1965)). In particular, the 
right to cross-examination  [*31] has 
traditionally included the right "to impeach, 
i.e., discredit, the witness." Davis, 415 U.S. 
at 316, quoted in Olden v. Kentucky, 488 
U.S. 227, 231, 109 S. Ct. 480, 102 L. Ed. 2d 
513 (1988). 

However, an accused is not simply allowed 
"cross-examination that is effective in 
whatever way, and to whatever extent, the 
defense might wish." Delaware v. 
Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20, 106 S. Ct. 292, 
88 L. Ed. 2d 15 (1985), quoted in Delaware 
                                                 

6 U.S. CONST. amend. VI. 
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v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 S. 
Ct. 1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1986). Indeed, 
"'trial judges retain wide latitude' to limit 
reasonably a criminal defendant's right to 
cross-examine a witness 'based on concerns 
about, among other things, harassment, 
prejudice, confusion of the issues, the 
witness' safety, or interrogation that is 
repetitive or only marginally relevant.'" 
Michigan v. Lucas, 500 U.S. 145, 149, 111 
S. Ct. 1743, 114 L. Ed. 2d 205 (1991) 
(quoting Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 679). But 
no evidentiary rule can deny an accused a 
fair trial or all opportunities for effective 
cross-examination. See Van Arsdall, 475 
U.S. at 679. 

Generally, evidence must be admitted 
within the ambit of Mil. R. Evid. 
412(b)(1)(C) when the evidence is relevant 
and material, and the probative value of the 
evidence outweighs the dangers of unfair 
prejudice. See Gaddis, 70 M.J. at 255 
 [*32] ("[T]he best reading of the rule is that 
. . . the probative value of the evidence must 
be balanced against and outweigh the 
ordinary countervailing interests reviewed 
in making a determination as to whether 
evidence is constitutionally required."). 
Relevant evidence is any evidence that has 
"any tendency to make the existence of any 
fact . . . more probable or less probable than 
it would be without the evidence." Mil. R. 
Evid. 401. The evidence must also be 
material, which is a multi-factored test 
looking at "the importance of the issue for 
which the evidence was offered in relation 
to the other issues in th[e] case; the extent to 
which this issue is in dispute; and the nature 
of other evidence in the case pertaining to 
this issue." United States v. Colon-

Angueira, 16 M.J. 20, 26 (C.M.A. 1983) 
(quoting United States v. Dorsey, 16 M.J. 1, 
6 (C.M.A. 1983)). Finally, if evidence is 
material and relevant, then it must be 
admitted when the accused can show its 
probative value outweighs the dangers of 
any potential unfair prejudice. See Mil. R. 
Evid. 412(c)(3). Those dangers include 
concerns about "harassment, prejudice, 
confusion of the issues, the witness' safety, 
or interrogation that  [*33] is repetitive or 
only marginally relevant." Van Arsdall, 475 
U.S. at 679. 

In this case, the defense failed to articulate 
any reasonable theory tending to show that 
A1C GG had a motive to fabricate about 
whether the sexual conduct with the 
appellant was consensual. It is undisputed 
that at some point A1C GG had a 
relationship with SrA BM while he was 
married to another woman. However, the 
appellant's assertion that that "a sexual 
relationship between A1C GG and SrA BM 
existed before she reported to SrA BM" that 
she had been sexually assaulted is not 
supported by the evidence. The earliest 
possible start date of a sexual relationship 
supported by the evidence was 29 August 
2010,7 two days after A1C GG told SrA BM 
the appellant sexually assaulted her. Even 
taking the facts as argued by the defense, 
the earliest date such a relationship began 
was two days after A1C GG told SrA BM 

                                                 

7 Senior Airman BM's nonjudicial punishment action for the 
relationship alleged that it started "on or about 29 August 2009." The 
appellant's reliance on the "on or about 29 August 2010" language as 
proof that the relationship began before Airman First Class GG 
disclosed the appellant's conduct incorrectly assumes the relationship 
had to have begun on the earliest  [*35] date within the charged 
timeframe. 
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about the appellant's conduct. The 
appellant's argument is that because A1C 
GG had sex with another person, she had a 
motive to lie about what occurred with the 
appellant. If we accepted this rationale, then 
any sexual intercourse engaged in by an 
alleged victim either before or after an 
alleged sexual assault  [*34] would be 
admissible. Such an approach would make 
Mil. R. Evid. 412 a nullity. There must be 
some other rational connection between the 
other sexual activity and a motivation to 
fabricate a sexual assault. The military 
judge correctly noted the appellant failed to 
provide any theory showing the questioned 
evidence was relevant or how the evidence 
supported any defense theory. This situation 
is clearly distinguishable from cases where 
an extramarital affair was deemed 
admissible when the defense articulated a 
plausible theory that the alleged victim 
fabricated a sexual assault allegation to 
prevent the disintegration of his or her 
marriage. Personal experience, general 
knowledge, and an understanding of human 
conduct and motivation fail to support how 
the proffered evidence in this case 
sufficiently supports the appellant's theory. 

Evidence of A1C GG's relationship with 
SrA BM has no direct and substantial link to 
her credibility. Under the given facts, the 
existence of the relationship, especially 
given its timing, did not establish a greater 
motive for A1C GG to lie about whether her 
sexual encounter with the appellant was 
consensual. Because the evidence has no 
tendency to make a fact that is of 
consequence to the determination of the 
case more or less probable than it would be 
without the evidence, it is neither relevant 

nor material. 

In this case, we conclude the military judge 
did not abuse his discretion when he 
excluded this evidence. The record reveals 
nothing more than speculative assertions 
and conjecture in this regard, and we 
conclude the appellant failed to meet his 
burden in demonstrating relevance. Mil. R. 
Evid. 412(c)(3); see also Roberts, 69 M.J. at 
27-28. 

Assistance of Counsel 

The appellant argues his trial defense 
counsel's performance amounted to 
ineffective assistance. Specifically, the 
appellant claims his counsel were 
ineffective for failing to: (1) Object to a 
major change to the charge sheet (the 
addition of the terminal elements on 
Specification 2 of Additional  [*36] Charge 
III); (2) File a motion to compel the 
appearance of a favorable witness after "9 
RW/JA failed to have him produced in order 
to testify live"; (3) Seek the suppression of 
the appellant's videotaped statements to 
AFOSI after the appellant told AFOSI he 
wanted legal counsel and did not want to 
answer questions; and (4) Request and 
present evidence at the Mil. R. Evid. 412 
hearing that established A1C GG's 
adulterous relationship with SrA BM began 
on 29 August 2010. After reviewing the 
record of trial, we find no merit to this 
argument. 

We review claims of ineffective assistance 
of counsel de novo, applying the two-
pronged test set forth in Strickland v. 
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 
2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). See United 
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States v. Tippit, 65 M.J. 69, 76 (C.A.A.F. 
2007). Under Strickland, an appellant must 
demonstrate: (1) a deficiency in counsel's 
performance that is so serious that counsel 
was not functioning as the counsel 
guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth 
Amendment; and (2) that the deficient 
performance prejudiced the defense through 
errors so serious as to deprive the defendant 
of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. 
Tippit, 65 M.J. at 76 (quoting United States 
v. Moulton, 47 M.J. 227, 229 (C.A.A.F. 
1997))  [*37] (internal quotation marks 
omitted). The deficiency prong requires that 
an appellant show the performance of 
counsel fell below an objective standard of 
reasonableness, according to the prevailing 
standards of the profession. Strickland, 466 
U.S. at 688. The prejudice prong requires a 
"reasonable probability that, but for 
counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of 
the proceeding would have been different." 
Id. at 694. Evidentiary hearings are required 
if there is any dispute regarding material 
facts in competing declarations submitted 
on appeal which cannot be resolved by the 
record of trial and appellate filings. United 
States v. Ginn, 47 M.J. 236, 248 (C.A.A.F. 
1997). 

Applying these standards, we find that any 
material conflict in the respective 
declarations regarding this issue may be 
resolved by reference to the record and 
appellate filings without the need for an 
evidentiary hearing. The comprehensive 
declarations by trial defense counsel address 
the alleged deficiencies and provide sound 
reasons for the decisions now questioned by 
the appellant. 

The trial defense counsel strategy was to 
keep the case moving in hopes the 
Government would be unable to secure the 
presence of a  [*38] third alleged victim. 
This strategy proved successful when the 
military judge refused a Government 
request for a one-day continuance to allow 
for the arrival of Ms. JI and granted the 
subsequent defense R.C.M. 917 motion. 
Objecting to the major change proposed by 
the Government would not have prevented 
this case from going to trial; it merely 
would have delayed the case and increased 
the likelihood that Ms. JI's presence at trial 
would be secured. Likewise, a successful 
motion to compel production of A1C AK 
would have delayed the trial and increased 
the likelihood Ms. JI testified. Trial defense 
counsel did a cost-benefit analysis and made 
a rational decision to forgo the testimony of 
A1C AK in favor of avoiding the possibility 
of having to defend against allegations 
levied by a third alleged victim who, unlike 
the first two victims, had not discussed her 
situation with any other alleged victim in 
the case. Trial defense counsel had a 
legitimate desire to avoid having the 
testimony of Ms. JI presented at the 
appellant's court-martial. 

The evidence from A1C AK, on the other 
hand, was mixed for the defense. Based on 
the proffered evidence, he would have 
offered an opinion that A1C GG  [*39] had a 
bad character for truthfulness, but this was 
clearly offset by the fact that he was the 
jilted ex-fiancé of A1C GG. It was proffered 
that A1C AK would have testified that, in 
his Skype conversation/chat with A1C GG, 
she provided a description of the events that 
was inconsistent with her testimony at trial. 
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However, the actual transcripts of the chats 
he had with A1C GG about the incident 
were consistent in some significant aspects 
with her testimony, and their admission 
through his testimony would have bolstered 
the testimony of A1C GG. Based on the 
clearly mixed value of his testimony, the 
defense made a strategically sound decision 
not to file a motion to compel production of 
A1C AK and delay the trial in order to 
prevent Ms. JI from arriving before the 
Government was forced to rest their case-in-
chief. Trial defense counsels' affidavit 
provides information about the strategic and 
tactical decisions the defense made 
regarding these issues. These decisions were 
not unreasonable. The fact this plan did not 
result in a complete acquittal does not 
invalidate the defense strategy, and we give 
great deference to trial defense counsels' 
judgments in this area. United States v. 
Morgan, 37 M.J. 407, 409 (C.M.A. 1993); 
 [*40] United States v. Mazza, 67 M.J. 470, 
474-75 (C.A.A.F. 2009). 

The appellant also complains about his trial 
defense counsels' decision to refrain from 
challenging the admissibility of his 
statements to AFOSI. Trial defense 
counsels' affidavit also provides information 
about the strategic and tactical decisions the 
defense made regarding this issue. Trial 
defense counsel knew in advance of trial 
they would want to call the appellant as a 
witness. Once they called the appellant to 
the stand, many of the statements he made 
to AFOSI would have been admissible on 
cross-examination even if they had been 
suppressed initially by the military judge. 
Furthermore, and more importantly, the 
appellant's summary of the actual 

conversation with the AFOSI about whether 
he wanted a lawyer misstates what was 
actually said during the conversation. A 
review of the facts and the applicable law in 
this area make it abundantly obvious that 
any such motion to suppress would have 
failed. Trial defense counsel recognized the 
motion would not prevail and they certainly 
were not ineffective in failing to raise a 
motion that would have been denied. 

Lastly, trial defense counsel were not 
ineffective for failing to  [*41] request and 
present evidence that the sexual relationship 
between A1C GG and SrA BM began on 29 
August 2010. Assuming the appellant could 
have established the sexual relationship in 
question began on 29 August 2010, such 
evidence, as noted above, was not relevant 
and would not have been admissible during 
the trial on the merits. As such, the 
appellant suffered no prejudice. 

Sentence Reassessment 

Having set aside the appellant's conviction 
of an offense, we must consider whether we 
can reassess the sentence or whether we 
must return the case for a rehearing on 
sentence. To validly reassess a sentence to 
purge the effect of error, we must be able to 
(1) discern the extent of the error's effect on 
the sentence and (2) conclude with 
confidence that, absent the error, the panel 
would have imposed a sentence of at least 
of a certain magnitude. United States v. 
Buber, 62 M.J. 476, 479 (C.A.A.F. 2006) 
(citing United States v. Hawes, 51 M.J. 258, 
260 (C.A.A.F. 1999); United States v. Doss, 
57 M.J. 182, 185 (C.A.A.F. 2002); United 
States v. Taylor, 51 M.J. 390, 391 (C.A.A.F. 
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1999)). We must also determine the 
sentence we propose to affirm is 
"appropriate," as required by Article 66(c), 
UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 866(c).  [*42] "In short, 
a reassessed sentence must be purged of 
prejudicial error and also must be 
'appropriate' for the offense involved." 
United States v. Sales, 22 M.J. 305, 308 
(C.M.A. 1986). See also United States v. 
Winckelmann, 73 M.J. 11, 14-15 (C.A.A.F. 
2013). 

In this case, our action does not reduce the 
maximum permissible sentence the 
appellant faced because, based on the 
conviction for forcible sodomy alone, the 
appellant faced confinement for life. All 
other aspects of the maximum permissible 
sentence remain the same. 

On the basis of the error noted, considering 
the evidence of record, and applying the 
principles set forth above, we determine that 
we can discern the effect of the errors and 
will reassess the sentence. Under the 
circumstances of this case, we are confident 
the military judge would have imposed the 
same sentence even if the appellant was not 
convicted of the wrongful sexual contact 
offenses. We also find, after considering the 
appellant's character, the nature and 
seriousness of the offenses, and the entire 
record, that this reassessed sentence is 
appropriate. 

Conclusion 

The findings of guilty to Specification 1 of 
Charge II and the Specification of 
Additional Charge II  [*43] are set aside and 
dismissed. The remaining findings and the 
sentence, as reassessed, are correct in law 

and fact, and no error materially prejudicial 
to the substantial rights of the appellant 
occurred. Articles 59(a) and 66(c), UCMJ, 
10 U.S.C. §§ 859(a), 866(c).8,9 Accordingly, 
the findings as modified, and the sentence 
as reassessed, are 

AFFIRMED. 

Concur by: ROAN (In Part) 

Dissent by: ROAN (In Part) 

Dissent  

ROAN, Chief Judge (concurring in part and 
dissenting in part): 

The appellant was charged with abusive 
sexual contact by placing A1C GG in fear 
of reprisal. Under these circumstances, I 
believe the issue of lack of consent is fairly 
encompassed within the charged 
specification and therefore, wrongful sexual 
contact, with its discrete elements of lack of 
permission and wrongfulness, is a lesser 
included offense (LIO). As a result, I dissent 
from my colleagues' rationale with respect 
to this issue and would affirm the findings 

                                                 

8 Though not raised as an issue on appeal, we note that the overall 
delay of more than 540 days between the time of docketing and 
review by this Court is facially unreasonable. United States v. 
Moreno, 63 M.J. 129, 142 (C.A.A.F. 2006). Having considered the 
totality of the circumstances and the entire record, we find the 
appellate delay in this case was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Id. at 135-36 (reviewing claims of post-trial and appellate delay 
using the four-factor analysis found in Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 
514, 530, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972)). See also United 
States v. Harvey, 64 M.J. 13, 24 (C.A.A.F. 2006); United States v. 
Tardif, 57 M.J. 219, 225 (C.A.A.F. 2002). 
9 The court-martial order (CMO) incorrectly states the appellant pled 
guilty to Charge III but not guilty to its Specification, when the 
appellant pled not guilty to all charges and specifications. 
 [*44] Accordingly, we order promulgation of a corrected CMO. 
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of guilty to Specification 1 of Charge II and 
the Specification of Additional Charge II. I 
concur in the remainder of the majority's 
opinion. 

An accused may be found guilty of an 
offense charged as well as "an offense 
necessarily included in the offense 
charged." Article 79, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 
879. "Whether an offense is a lesser 
included offense is a question of law we 
review de novo." United States v. Wilkins, 
71 M.J. 410, 412 (C.A.A.F. 2012) (quoting 
United States v. Arriaga, 70 M.J. 51, 54 
(C.A.A.F. 2011)). When considering this 
question, our superior court has looked to 
the Supreme  [*45] Court for guidance and 
adopted an "elements" test to determine 
whether one offense is a lesser included 
offense of another. United States v. Alston, 
69 M.J. 214 (C.A.A.F. 2010). "[O]ne 
offense is not 'necessarily included' in 
another unless the elements of the lesser 
offense are a subset of the elements of the 
charged offense. Where the lesser offense 
requires an element not required for the 
greater offense, no instruction regarding a 
lesser included offense is to be given." Id. at 
216 (quoting Schmuck v. United States, 489 
U.S. 705, 716, 109 S. Ct. 1443, 103 L. Ed. 
2d 734 (1989)) (internal alteration and 
quotation marks omitted). Stated another 
way, "'[T]o be necessarily included in the 
greater offense the lesser must be such that 
it is impossible to commit the greater 
offense without first having committed the 
lesser.'" Schmuck, 489 U.S. at 719 (quoting 
Giles v. United States, 144 F.2d 860, 861, 
10 Alaska 455 (9th Cir. 1944)). 

Accordingly, an accused may be convicted 

of an LIO only "in those cases where the 
indictment contains the elements of both 
offenses, and as a result gives notice to the 
defendant that he may be convicted on 
either charge." Alston, 69 M.J. at 216 
(quoting Schmuck, 489 U.S. at 718) 
(quotation marks omitted). The 
 [*46] charged and lesser offenses do not 
need to "employ identical statutory 
language"; rather, "the meaning of the 
offenses is ascertained by applying the 
'normal principles of statutory 
construction.'" Id. (citing Carter v. United 
States, 530 U.S. 255, 263, 120 S. Ct. 2159, 
147 L. Ed. 2d 203 (2000)). See also United 
States v. Bonner, 70 M.J. 1, 2 (C.A.A.F. 
2011) (holding assault consummated by a 
battery is an LIO of wrongful sexual 
contact). 

The appellant was charged with abusive 
sexual contact in violation of Article 120(h), 
UCMJ. The elements of that offense, as 
applied to this case, are: 

(1) That the accused engaged in sexual 
contact with another person; and 

(2) That the accused did so by placing 
that other person in fear of reprisal. 

Manual for Courts-Martial, United States 
(MCM), Part IV, ¶ 45.b.(8) (2008 ed.). 

The elements of wrongful sexual contact, in 
violation of Article 120(m), UCMJ, are: 

(1) That the accused had sexual contact 
with another person; 

(2) That the accused did so without that 
other person's permission; and 

(3) That the accused had no legal 
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justification or lawful authorization for 
that sexual contact. 

MCM, Part IV, ¶ 45.b.(13). 

The first element of "sexual contact" is the 
same in both offenses. Therefore, the 
 [*47] question is whether the element of 
engaging in sexual contact "by placing that 
other person in fear of reprisal" necessarily 
means committing the act "without that . . . 
person's permission" and without "legal 
justification or lawful authorization." I 
believe it does. 

When evaluating whether one offense is 
included within another, we do not conduct 
a word-for-word comparison of the 
elements, as the statutory language does not 
have to be identical. See Alston, 69 M.J. at 
216. Rather, we apply the normal principles 
of statutory construction to ascertain the 
meaning of the offenses. Id. 

Turning to the second element of abusive 
sexual contact listed above, that element 
requires that the accused engaged in sexual 
contact "by placing that other person in 
fear." A victim who submits to sexual 
conduct out of fear has not, by definition, 
consented to it. As provided by Article 
120(t)(14), UCMJ, "The term 'consent' 
means words or acts indicating a freely 
given agreement to the sexual conduct at 
issue by a competent person. . . . Lack of 
verbal or physical resistance or submission 
resulting from the accused's . . . placing 
another person in fear does not constitute 
consent." The second element  [*48] of the 
charged offense (fear of reprisal), therefore, 
will always consist of a nonconsensual 
sexual contact because it is accomplished in 

a manner that per se excludes consent as a 
possibility. Accordingly, I would conclude 
the offense of wrongful sexual contact, 
which requires only the sexual contact be 
wrongful and "without that other person's 
permission," is entirely encompassed by the 
offense of abusive sexual contact when that 
contact occurs through fear of reprisal.10 

I would follow this court's holding in United 
States v. Pitman, ACM 37453, 2011 CCA 
LEXIS 93 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 19 May 
2011) (unpub. op.), where we concluded 
wrongful sexual contact is an LIO of 
aggravated sexual contact. As we stated in 
Pitman, "[a]pplying the common and 
ordinary understanding of these words, an 
allegation that a victim is compelled to 
submit to sexual acts by force clearly 
includes as a subset that the victim is not 
consenting." Pitman, unpub. op. at 4. We 
also observed that "[t]he elements test . . . 
affirms this interpretation since it would be 
impossible to prove the force required for 
the greater offense . . . without also proving 
the wrongfulness and lack of permission 
required for the lesser offense." Id. The 
same analysis holds true here. It would be 
impossible to prove the offense of abusive 
sexual contact by fear of reprisal without 

                                                 

10 An act of sexual conduct accomplished by imposing fear is akin to 
constructive force or parental compulsion, concepts that military 
courts previously recognized in the context of the offense of rape, 
prior to the 1 October 2007 amendment to Article 120, UCMJ, 
which contained both force and lack of consent as an element. See, 
e.g., United States v. Palmer, 33 M.J. 7 (C.M.A. 1991) (upholding 
instructions in prosecution for rape that equated consent induced by 
fear, fright, or coercion to physical force); United States v. Dejonge, 
16 M.J. 974 (A.F.C.M.R. 1983) (constructive force exists where 
sexual intercourse is accomplished under compulsion of parental 
command); United States v. Edens, 29 M.J. 755 (A.C.M.R. 1989) 
 [*49] (child's acquiescence to sexual acts not consent, but 
submission to constructive force). 
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also proving the wrongfulness and lack of 
permission for the lesser offense. The 
converse is also not necessarily true; a 
victim may not consent to sexual contact 
despite the absence of any imposition of 
fear. 

The appellant relies heavily on his 
interpretation  [*50] of United States v. 
Jones, 68 M.J. 465 (C.A.A.F. 2010), but that 
case it distinguishable. In Jones, our 
superior court ruled an indecent act under 
Article 134, UCMJ, is not an LIO of rape 
under Article 120, UCMJ, because the two 
offenses shared "no common ground" and 
there was "nothing in that charge [that] put 
Appellant on notice that he also needed to 
defend against indecent acts." Id. at 473. 
The due process concerns discussed by the 
Court in Jones in relation to the 
identification of LIOs are not present in this 
case. The accused in Jones was charged 
with rape under Article 120, UCMJ, yet was 
convicted of the LIO of indecent acts under 
Article 134, UCMJ, with its unique terminal 
elements. Id. at 466-67. Unlike in Jones, the 
offenses of which this appellant was 
charged and convicted are part and parcel of 
the same Article 120, UCMJ, which 
criminalizes various degrees of sexual 
misconduct. Moreover, as discussed above, 
the elements of wrongful sexual contact are 
entirely encompassed by the elements of 
abusive sexual contact. The appellant's 
argument that wrongful sexual contact is not 
an LIO of abusive sexual contact relies on 
the inherently contradictory notion that it is 
possible  [*51] to "give permission" to being 
compelled to submit to sexual contact out of 
fear. 

The appellant also claims he "did not 
receive fair notice" that wrongful sexual 
contact is an LIO of abusive sexual contact. 
But notice was provided by a plain reading 
of the elements of both offenses, which 
reveals that abusive sexual contact by 
placing another in fear is necessarily 
wrongful and without the victim's consent. 
Moreover, although not dispositive of the 
issue, wrongful sexual contact is listed in 
the Manual as a possible LIO of abusive 
sexual contact. MCM, Part IV, ¶ 45.e.(8); 
see generally United States v. Jones, 68 
M.J. 465 (C.A.A.F. 2010). Thus, the 
appellant was certainly on notice he had to 
defend himself against the Government's 
correct assertions his actions were done 
without legal justification and without his 
victim's permission. 

Finally, the record reveals trial defense 
counsel was aware of this fact and defended 
against the lesser as well as the greater 
offense by arguing the sexual conduct was 
consensual. In opening statement, trial 
defense counsel began by telling the 
military judge that he would see "an NCO 
 [*52] who engaged in some consensual 
conduct with Airmen from within the 
squadron." Trial defense counsel stated that 
while the appellant's actions might be 
"distasteful" because he was married, "that 
is not what [the appellant] is charged with 
here. . . . He is charged with a variety of 
non-consensual acts." Referring specifically 
to the victim of the abusive sexual contact 
specifications, Airman First Class (A1C) 
GG, trial defense counsel stated, "[the 
appellant] gave [A1C GG] the opportunity 
to back out of this consensual relationship 
and she chose not to." 
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Finding no error, I would approve the findings and sentence. 
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Opinion  

OPINION OF THE COURT 

HELGET, Senior Judge: 

The appellant was found guilty, in 
accordance with his pleas, by a military 
judge of one specification of dereliction of 
duty and two specifications of indecent 
conduct, in violation of Articles 92 and 120, 
UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. §§ 892, 920. Contrary to 
his pleas, the appellant was found guilty by 
a panel of officer members, of three 
specifications of dereliction of duty, one 
specification of failing to obey a lawful 
order, one specification of assault 
consummated by a battery, and one 
specification of wrongful sexual contact, in 
violation of Articles 92, 128, and 120, 
UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. §§ 892, 928, 920. 1 The 
approved sentence consists of a  [*2] bad-
conduct discharge, confinement for six 
months, and reduction to E-1. 

The appellant asserts six assignments of 
error before this Court: (1) Whether the no-
contact order that prohibited the appellant 
from contacting anyone is his flight was 
overly broad; (2) Whether the military judge 
erred in ruling that the change made to 
Specification 5 of Charge I was a minor 
change; (3) Whether the military judge 
erred in giving a findings instruction on 
wrongful sexual contact under Article 120, 
UCMJ, by stating that permission was the 

1 Consistent with his pleas, the appellant was found not guilty of 
three specifications of wrongful sexual contact and one specification 
of aggravated sexual assault, in violation of Article 120, UCMJ, 10 
U.S.C. § 920.

same as consent; (4) Whether the appellant's 
conviction for wrongful sexual contact with 
Airman (Amn) AW is factually and legally 
insufficient where a mistake of fact defense 
existed; (5) Whether the military judge 
erred in not giving the members an 
instruction on their ability to recommend 
clemency in the form of a general discharge 
when members specifically asked the 
military judge if a general discharge was 
permissible; and (6) Whether the appellant's 
 [*3] sentence to a bad-conduct discharge is 
inappropriately severe. 2 

Background 

The appellant pled guilty to engaging in 
sodomy and attempting to engage in sexual 
intercourse with Amn KW while others 
were in the room watching. The appellant 
also pled guilty to engaging in sodomy with 
Amn MM while others were in the room 
watching. On 20 January 2008, the 
appellant was in the dorm watching football. 
He was drinking with a friend when Amn 
KW, Amn MM, and another female airman 
arrived. It appeared that they all had been 
drinking. Amn MM and Amn KW both 
started dancing and stripping. At some 
point, Amn KW came over to the appellant, 
pulled down his pants and began performing 
oral sex on him. There were at least five 
people in the room at the time. The 
appellant attempted to engage in sexual 
intercourse with Amn KW while the others 
were still in the room. Amn MM also 
performed oral sex on the appellant. The 
entire incident was videotaped. In addition 

2 Issues 2, 3, and 6 are raised pursuant to United States v. Grostefon, 
12 M.J. 431 (C.M.A. 1982).

http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GJ71-NRF4-43ND-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GJ71-NRF4-43ND-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GNW1-NRF4-4301-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-B4S0-003S-G4XC-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-B4S0-003S-G4XC-00000-00&context=
http://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:3S4X-B4S0-003S-G4XC-00000-00&context=


Page 3 of 11 
United States v. Thompson 

   

to the incidents on 20 January 2008, the 
appellant also pled guilty to providing 
alcohol to minors on 3 July 2008 while on a 
camping trip with other members  [*4] of his 
squadron. 

Concerning the offenses for which the 
appellant pled not guilty but was found 
guilty, according to the testimony of 
Airman First Class (A1C) AW, 3 on 21 
December 2007, she went to a party in the 
appellant's dorm room at the United States 
Air Force Academy (USAFA). A1C AW 
was 20 years old at the time and the 
appellant was aware that she was underage. 
At least four other airmen were at the party. 
Throughout the night, the appellant 
provided A1C AW with approximately four 
mixed drinks containing alcohol. A1C AW 
was also given three shots of alcohol. 
Eventually, the party proceeded to the day 
room. At some point, A1C AW dropped one 
of the appellant's glass cups. The appellant 
became very angry with A1C AW and 
guided her to the stairwell. When A1C AW 
started crying, the appellant calmed down 
and invited her to his room. A1C AW 
agreed to go. At the time, the appellant was 
the dorm president. When they arrived at 
the appellant's room, no one else was 
present. The appellant told A1C AW to sit 
on his love seat. He then started telling her 
that he wanted her to spend the night with 
him. She told him that she did not want to 
have sex, and the appellant agreed they 
would not have  [*5] sex but he still wanted 
her to spend the night with him. 

                                                 
3 Airman First Class AW was an Airman (E-2) at the time of the 
incident. 

They then started kissing and eventually 
moved to the appellant's bed. The appellant 
attempted to remove her bra, at which point 
she reminded him that she did not want to 
have sex. The appellant agreed so she 
allowed him to remove her bra. The next 
thing she remembers is they were both lying 
on their sides facing each other. Her pants 
were off at this point but she was still 
wearing her underwear. The appellant 
started to digitally penetrate her vagina with 
his fingers but she pushed his hand away. 
The appellant again digitally penetrated her 
but she again pushed his hand away. At this 
point, A1C AW started to perform oral sex 
upon the appellant. However, the appellant 
pulled her up so that she was on top of him. 
A1C AW did not want to engage in sexual 
intercourse so she again tried to perform 
oral sex on the appellant. The appellant 
pulled her back up on top of him, and then 
turned her over so that he was on top of her. 
He then inserted his penis into her vagina. 
She again told him "no." She repeatedly told 
him "no" but the appellant continued. She 
then told  [*6] him, "No, you don't even 
have a condom on," at which point the 
appellant stopped. The appellant went and 
obtained a condom and resumed sexual 
intercourse. He commented, "There, is that 
better?" She replied, "No, I still don't want 
to have sex with you." 

A1C AW testified that at this point she 
froze. She had never before been in a 
situation where she told someone to stop 
and the person failed to comply. The 
appellant eventually quit and ejaculated on 
the bed. During the sexual intercourse, the 
appellant pulled A1C AW's legs up over his 
shoulders and held them until he was 
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finished. Afterward, the appellant went to 
the bathroom and when he returned, he laid 
down on the bed next to A1C AW. A1C 
AW waited until the appellant fell asleep 
before going to A1C RM's room because 
she was upset. 

A1C AW remembered that earlier in the 
evening, while she was in the appellant's 
room, someone had been trying to call her 
but she did not answer her phone. A1C RM 
testified that when he tried contacting A1C 
AW on the night of 21 December 2007, she 
unintentionally answered her phone and he 
could hear the appellant talking to her. He 
listened to their conversation and heard the 
appellant saying that "he could  [*7] see 
himself falling in love with her." The 
appellant also said that he wanted to lie with 
A1C AW all night. 

On the night of 24 December 2007, the 
appellant had another party in his room. 
A1C AW went to the appellant's room to 
see Amn MM. A1C AW testified that when 
she sat down, the appellant came up to her 
and tried to kiss her but she pulled away. 
Later that same night, when A1C AW left 
the appellant's room and returned to her 
room, the appellant followed her and started 
banging on her door. A1C AW answered 
the door and came out into the hallway. The 
appellant raised his hand and told her that as 
the dorm president, he had the power to do 
whatever he wanted to her. He pinned her 
up against the wall and kept telling her to 
kiss him like she meant it. As he was trying 
to kiss her, his tongue touched her face. 
A1C AW resisted his advances as she did 
not want the appellant to kiss her. 

On 3 January 2008, the appellant 
volunteered to pick up two new female 
airmen, Amn BC and Amn KW, at the 
airport in Colorado Springs, Colorado, and 
return them to the USAFA. The appellant 
met Amn BC at the airport after her flight 
arrived at approximately 2100 on 3 January 
2008. As they were leaving the airport, 
 [*8] the appellant asked her if she wanted to 
drink. She replied, "You know I'm 19, 
right?" and the appellant said, "I don't care." 
They went to the government-owned 
vehicle (GOV) the appellant was driving, 
and Amn CA and Amn KW were waiting 
for them. They drove to a liquor store. 
While Amn CA was in the liquor store, the 
appellant drove around the parking lot. He 
informed the airmen that what he was doing 
was illegal because he was in a GOV. When 
they arrived at the USAFA, the appellant 
invited the two female airmen to his dorm 
room where he was having a party. When 
Amn KW and Amn BC arrived at the 
appellant's room, he handed them each a 
plastic cup that contained alcohol. 

In January 2008, the appellant's First 
Sergeant, Senior Master Sergeant (SMSgt) 
JL, received a complaint that Amn BC may 
have been sexually assaulted. He contacted 
the sexual assault response coordinator at 
the USAFA to set up a meeting for Amn 
BC. Amn KW and A1C AW were also 
involved. Both Amn KW and Amn BC were 
members of the 10th Medical Support 
Squadron (10 MDSS), Medical Logistics 
Flight. At the time, the appellant was also a 
member of the Medical Logistics Flight. 
The Air Force Office of Special 
Investigations eventually  [*9] became 
involved and started an investigation. On 29 
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January 2008, SMSgt JL issued an order to 
the appellant not to have any contact with 
anyone in the Medical Logistics Flight. On 
9 February 2008, the appellant violated the 
order by using Amn MM's cell phone to 
invite Senior Airman (SrA) PM, a member 
of the Medical Logistics Flight, to a party at 
a local Best Western hotel. 

Violation of No-Contact Order 

The appellant contends that the no-contact 
order issued by SMSgt JL prohibiting the 
appellant from contacting anyone in his 
flight was overly broad since not all of the 
members of the appellant's flight were 
involved in the investigation. 4 Whether an 
order is legal is a question of law we review 
de novo. United States v. Moore, 58 M.J. 
466, 467 (C.A.A.F. 2003). "[A]n order is 
presumed lawful, provided it has a valid 
military purpose and is a clear, specific, 
narrowly drawn mandate." Id. at 468. To 
determine if an order meets this test, we 
look to "the specific conduct at issue in the 
context of the purposes and language of the 
order," not to hypothetical applications. Id. 

In this case, SMSgt JL testified that he 
issued the order because he wanted to 
ensure the integrity of the investigation. At 
the time he issued the order, there were 
already seven individuals, not including the 
appellant, from the 30-person Medical 
Logistics Flight involved, and he was 
                                                 

4 The first part of the order prohibited the appellant from having any 
contact with members of the 10th Medical Logistics  [*10] Flight, 
United States Air Force Academy. The second part ordered the 
appellant not to have any contact with anyone involved in the 
investigation. The military judge upheld the first part of the order but 
ruled that that the second part of the order was overly broad and 
vague. 

uncertain how many would ultimately be 
involved since the number continued to 
grow as the investigation continued. SMSgt 
JL also felt the order was necessary to 
maintain good order and discipline in the 
Medical Logistics Flight. He wanted to 
protect the appellant from a hostile work 
environment and was concerned for the 
safety of the alleged victims. 

We concur with the military judge that the 
portion of the order prohibiting contact with 
members of the Medical Logistics Flight 
had a specific military purpose and was not 
overly broad. The order was issued to 
ensure the integrity of the investigation, to 
protect the appellant and the  [*11] alleged 
victims, and ultimately to maintain good 
order and discipline within the unit. 
Accordingly, under these circumstances, we 
find that the no-contact order was a valid 
lawful order. 

Specification Change 

The appellant contends that the military 
judge erred when he ruled that the change 
made to Specification 5 of Charge I was a 
minor change when in fact it was a major 
change. 

Whether a change in a specification is a 
minor change or a major change is a 
question of law we review de novo. United 
States v. Sullivan, 42 M.J. 360, 364-66 
(C.A.A.F. 1995). This Court uses a two-
pronged test to determine if a change is a 
minor change or a major change. Id. at 365. 
The test is: (1) does the change result in an 
"additional or different offense" and (2) 
does the change prejudice "substantial rights 
of the [accused]." Id. (quoting Fed. R. Crim. 
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P. 7(e)). Rule for Courts-Martial (R.C.M.) 
603(a) defines minor changes as "any 
except those which add a party, offenses, or 
substantial matter not fairly included in 
those previously preferred, or which are 
likely to mislead the accused as to the 
offenses charged." R.C.M. 603(c) permits 
minor amendments of charges and 
specifications "at any time before 
 [*12] findings are announced if no 
substantial right of the accused is 
prejudiced." 

The no-contact order stated that the 
appellant was to "cease all contact and 
communication, direct or indirect, with all 
persons assigned to the 10 MDSS Medical 
Logistics Flight." However, the appellant 
was originally charged with violating the 
order by wrongfully contacting SrA PM, a 
"member of the 10th Medical Support 
Squadron." At trial, the prosecution moved 
to do a pen-and-ink change to the charge 
sheet to change "10th Medical Support 
Squadron" to "10 MDSS Medical Logistics 
Flight" under the rationale that the change 
was a minor change under R.C.M. 603(a). 
The defense moved to dismiss Specification 
5 of Charge I for failure to state an offense, 
as the specification alleged that SrA PM 
was a "member of the 10th Medical Support 
Squadron" and the order only prohibited 
contact with members of "the 10 MDSS 
Medical Logistics Flight." 

The government asserted that under notice 
pleading, the appellant was aware that SrA 
PM was a member of the 10 MDSS Medical 
Logistics Flight and that amending the 
specification was a minor change. The 
defense countered that such a change is a 

major change because the specification 
 [*13] went from failing to state an offense 
to now alleging an offense. The military 
judge ruled that the change was a minor 
change because the appellant was apprised 
of the nature of the offense and the identity 
of the individual involved in the 
specification. 

We concur with the military judge that the 
change was minor. The change in this case 
was purely administrative in nature in that it 
properly identified SrA PM's unit of 
assignment and did not change the nature of 
the alleged offense. The change did not add 
a party or an offense, and it did not mislead 
the appellant as to the offense charged. 
Accordingly, the appellant's claim is 
without merit. 

Findings Instruction 

The appellant contends the military judge 
erred in giving a findings instruction on 
wrongful sexual contact under Article 
120(m), UCMJ, by stating that permission 
was the same as consent. 

The issue of whether a panel was properly 
instructed is a question of law this Court 
reviews de novo. United States v. 
McDonald, 57 M.J. 18, 20 (C.A.A.F. 2002). 
"Military judges have 'substantial 
discretionary power in deciding on the 
instructions to give.'" Id. (quoting United 
States v. Damatta-Olivera, 37 M.J. 474, 478 
(C.M.A. 1993)). 

During  [*14] the findings portion of the 
trial, the military judge used the Military 
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Judges' Benchbook 5 to instruct the 
members on the elements of wrongful 
sexual contact. One of the elements of 
wrongful sexual contact is that the appellant 
acted without the victim's permission. 
Manual for Courts-Martial, United States, 
Part IV, ¶ 45.b.(13)(b) (2008 ed.). The 
appellant claims the military judge erred 
when he instructed the members that the 
definition of without permission was the 
same as without consent. The trial defense 
counsel objected to the instruction and 
claimed that permission is in fact a more 
passive act than the act of granting consent, 
which entails taking some affirmative act. 
The military judge disagreed. 

On appeal, the appellant argues that 
Webster defines "permission" as "[t]he act 
of permitting." Webster's II New Riverside 
University Dictionary 875 (1984). It further 
defines "permit" as not only "[t]o consent 
to" but also contains the additional 
definitions "[a]llow" and "[t]o afford 
opportunity to." Id. at 875-76. 
 [*15] Therefore, the word permission is 
broader than the word consent. 

Under the statutory construction of Article 
120(m), UCMJ, Wrongful Sexual Contact, 
the terms permission and consent are used 
interchangeably. See Article 120(r), UCMJ. 
6 
                                                 

5 Department of the Amy Pamphlet 27-9, Military Judges' 
Benchbook (Interim Changes since Ch-2, 15 Jan 2008). 
6 Article 120(r), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 920(r), Consent and Mistake of 
Fact as to Consent, provides: "Lack of permission is an element of 
the offense in subsection (m) (wrongful sexual contact). Consent and 
mistake of fact as to consent are not an issue, or an affirmative 
defense, in a prosecution under any other subsection, except they are 
an affirmative defense for the sexual conduct in issue in a 
prosecution under subsection (a) (rape), subsection (c) (aggravated 

Although the appellant contends that the 
word permission is broader than the word 
consent, considering the statutory 
construction of Article 120, UCMJ, it is 
clear that Congress intended for permission 
and consent to be synonymous as these 
words pertain to wrongful sexual contact 
under Article 120(m), UCMJ. Accordingly, 
we find that the military judge did not err in 
his findings instructions  [*16] for wrongful 
sexual contact and the members were 
properly instructed. 

Legal and Factual Sufficiency 

The appellant asserts that the evidence is 
legally and factually insufficient to sustain 
his conviction for wrongful sexual contact 
with Amn AW. He argues that the 
government failed to prove beyond a 
reasonable doubt that the appellant did not 
have a mistake of fact defense as to whether 
Amn AW granted him permission to engage 
in sexual intercourse with her. 

In accordance with Article 66(c), UCMJ, 10 
U.S.C. § 866(c), we review issues of legal 
and factual sufficiency de novo. United 
States v. Washington, 57 M.J. 394, 399 
(C.A.A.F. 2002). "The test for legal 
sufficiency of the evidence is whether, 
considering the evidence in the light most 
favorable to the prosecution, any reasonable 
fact-finder could have found all the essential 
elements beyond a reasonable doubt." 
United States v. Day, 66 M.J. 172, 173-74 
(C.A.A.F. 2008) (citing United States v. 
Turner, 25 M.J. 324, 324 (C.M.A. 1987)). 

                                                                                     
sexual assault), subsection (e) (aggravated sexual contact), and 
subsection (h) (abusive sexual contact)." 
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The test for factual sufficiency is "whether, 
after weighing the evidence in the record of 
trial and making allowances for not having 
personally observed the witnesses, [we] are 
[ourselves] convinced of the  [*17] accused's 
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Turner, 
25 M.J. at 325. Review of the evidence is 
limited to the entire record, which includes 
only the evidence admitted at trial and 
exposed to the crucible of cross-
examination. Article 66(c), UCMJ; United 
States v. Bethea, 22 C.M.A. 223, 46 C.M.R. 
223, 224-25 (C.M. A. 1973). 

Considering our review of the entire record 
of trial, a reasonable fact finder could have 
found that the appellant committed the 
charged offense upon A1C AW. The 
appellant claims that because A1C AW 
engaged in other sexual conduct, to include 
performing oral sex upon him, he had an 
honest and reasonable belief that A1C AW 
granted him permission to engage in sexual 
intercourse. However, the evidence shows 
otherwise. A1C AW testified that 
throughout the entire night of 21 December 
2007, she repeatedly communicated to the 
appellant that she did not want to engage in 
sexual intercourse with him. Despite telling 
him "no" several times, the appellant 
continued to engage in sexual intercourse 
with A1C AW. A1C AW did consent to 
other forms of sexual contact, but she was 
adamant that she did not want to have 
sexual intercourse. Although the defense 
made several attempts to impeach A1C AW 
 [*18] in this case, the court members 
ultimately had to decide whether or not they 
believed her testimony. Accordingly, 
considering the evidence in the light most 
favorable to the prosecution, a reasonable 

fact finder could have found that the 
appellant did not have an honest and 
reasonable belief that A1C AW granted him 
permission to engage in sexual intercourse. 

Furthermore, after weighing the evidence in 
the record of trial and making allowances 
for not having personally observed the 
witnesses' in-court testimony, we are 
ourselves convinced of the appellant's guilt 
beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, we 
find the evidence is legally and factually 
sufficient to sustain the conviction. 

Sentencing Instruction 

The appellant contends that the military 
judge erred in not giving the members an 
instruction on the possibility of a general 
discharge for the appellant when 
specifically asked by the members if a 
general discharge was permissible. 

During sentencing deliberations, the 
members asked if a general discharge was 
allowed. The military judge responded, 
"The short answer to that question is no. 
Again, in adjudging a sentence you are 
restricted to the kinds of punishment which 
I listed during  [*19] my original 
instructions or you may adjudge no 
punishment." The trial defense counsel did 
not object to this instruction. On appeal, the 
appellant claims that the net effect of the 
military judge's instruction was to leave the 
members with the perception that either 
they sentence the appellant to a punitive 
discharge or he would be retained in the Air 
Force. The appellant asserts that the military 
judge should have instructed the members 
that the convening authority was permitted 
to separate the appellant from the Air Force 
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with a general discharge if the members 
decided a punitive discharge was not 
warranted. 

We review the military judge's sentencing 
instructions for an abuse of discretion. 
United States v. Hopkins, 56 M.J. 393, 395 
(C.A.A.F. 2002). "The military judge has 
considerable discretion in tailoring 
instructions to the evidence and law." Id. 
"[C]ollateral consequences of a court-
martial conviction should not be the concern 
of the court-martial and that instructions 
thereon should be avoided." United States v. 
Hall, 46 M.J. 145, 146 (C.A.A.F. 1997) 
(citing United States v. McElroy, 40 M.J. 
368, 371-72 (C.M.A. 1994); United States v. 
Griffin, 25 M.J. 423 (C.M.A. 1988)). The 
 [*20] possibility of receiving an 
administrative discharge in the event a 
punitive discharge is not adjudged is a 
collateral matter to a court-martial. United 
States v. Tschip, 58 M.J. 275, 277 (C.A.A.F. 
2003). By failing to object to sentencing 
instructions before the members begin to 
deliberate, an appellant waives any 
objection absent plain error. R.C.M. 
1005(f). "Plain error occurs when (1) there 
is error, (2) the error is plain or obvious, and 
(3) the error results in material prejudice to 
a substantial right of the accused." United 
States v. Fletcher, 62 M.J. 175, 179 
(C.A.A.F. 2005) (citing United States v. 
Rodriguez, 60 M.J. 87, 88-89 (C.A.A.F. 
2004)). The appellant has the burden to 
establish plain error. United States v. 
Cardreon, 52 M.J. 213, 216 (C.A.A.F. 
1999). 

The appellant contends that the military 
judge should have given an instruction 

similar to the one given in United States v. 
Friedmann, 53 M.J. 800, 801-02 (A.F. Ct. 
Crim. App. 2000). In that case, the accused 
requested during his unsworn statement that 
the members not give him a bad-conduct 
discharge but instead allow his commander 
to administratively separate him. 
Friedmann, 53 M.J. at 801. In response, the 
military  [*21] judge's instructions provided 
the following: 

You, of course should not rely on any of 
this in determining an appropriate 
punishment for this accused for the 
offenses of which he stands convicted. 
The issue before you is not whether the 
accused should remain a member of the 
Air Force, but whether he should be 
punitively separated from the service. If 
you don't conclude the accused should 
be punitively separated from the service, 
than [sic] it is none of your business or 
concern as to whether anyone else might 
choose to initiate separation action, or 
how the accused's service might be 
characterized by an administrative 
discharge authority. 

Id. at 802 (alteration in original). 

The appellant asserts that had the members 
been instructed in the same manner as those 
in Friedmann, it would have been clear to 
the members that a general discharge was 
permitted. 

The possibility of an administrative 
discharge in the event a punitive discharge 
is not adjudged is a collateral issue. Our 
superior court has routinely held that 
instructions regarding collateral matters are 
disfavored. Hall, 46 M.J. at 146 (citing 
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McElroy, 40 M.J. at 371-72; Griffin, 25 
M.J. 423). Considering that military judges 
have broad  [*22] discretion to give 
appropriate sentencing instructions, we find 
the instruction given in this case by the 
military judge was appropriate. Although an 
instruction similar to the one provided by 
the military judge in Friedmann would have 
been permissible, it was certainly not 
required to be given by the military judge in 
this case. Accordingly, no error was 
committed by the military judge, plain or 
otherwise. 

Sentence Severity 

This Court reviews sentence 
appropriateness de novo. United States v. 
Baier, 60 M.J. 382, 383-84 (C.A.A.F. 2005). 
We "may affirm only such findings of guilty 
and the sentence or such part or amount of 
the sentence, as [we find] correct in law and 
fact and determine[], on the basis of the 
entire record, should be approved." Article 
66(c), UCMJ. We assess sentence 
appropriateness by considering the 
particular appellant, the nature and 
seriousness of the offense, the appellant's 
record of service, and all matters contained 
in the record of trial. United States v. 
Snelling, 14 M.J. 267, 268 (C.M.A. 1982); 
United States v. Bare, 63 M.J. 707, 714 
(A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 2006), aff'd, 65 M.J. 35 
(C.A.A.F. 2007). We have a great deal of 
discretion in determining whether a 
particular  [*23] sentence is appropriate but 
are not authorized to engage in exercises of 
clemency. United States v. Lacy, 50 M.J. 
286, 288 (C.A.A.F. 1999); United States v. 
Healy, 26 M.J. 394, 395-96 (C.M.A. 1988). 

"The Courts of Criminal Appeals are 
required to engage in sentence comparison 
only 'in those rare instances in which 
sentence appropriateness can be fairly 
determined only by reference to disparate 
sentences adjudged in closely related 
cases.'" United States v. Sothen, 54 M.J. 
294, 296 (C.A.A.F. 2001) (quoting United 
States v. Ballard, 20 M.J. 282, 283 (C.M.A. 
1985)). Sentence comparison is generally 
inappropriate unless this Court finds that 
any cited cases are "closely related" to the 
appellant's case and the sentences are 
"highly disparate." Lacy, 50 M.J. at 288. 
"[A]n appellant bears the burden of 
demonstrating that any cited cases are 
'closely related' to his or her case and that 
the sentences are 'highly disparate.' If the 
appellant meets that burden . . . then the 
[g]overnment must show that there is a 
rational basis for the disparity." Id. 

The maximum possible punishment in this 
case was a dishonorable discharge, 
confinement for 14 years, forfeiture of all 
pay and allowances, and  [*24] reduction to 
E-1. The appellant's approved sentence was 
a bad-conduct discharge, confinement for 
six months, and reduction to E-1. 

The appellant asserts that his sentence is too 
severe when compared to the little or no 
punishment received by others who were 
involved in the incidents that led to the 
appellant's court-martial. This includes the 
conduct of the victim, A1C AW. However, 
none of the other individuals engaged in as 
many acts of misconduct as the appellant 
nor were their acts of misconduct as serious 
as the appellant's. Accordingly, under the 
circumstances of this case, sentence 
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comparison is not warranted. 

We have given individualized consideration 
to this particular appellant, the nature and 
seriousness of the offenses, the appellant's 
record of service, and all other matters 
contained in the record of trial. The 
approved sentence was clearly within the 
discretion of the convening authority and 
was appropriate in this case. Accordingly, 
we hold that the approved sentence is not 
inappropriately severe. 

Conclusion 

The approved findings and sentence are 
correct in law and fact and no error 
prejudicial to the substantial rights of the 
appellant occurred. Article 66(c), UCMJ; 
United States v. Reed, 54 M.J. 37, 41 
(C.A.A.F. 2000).  [*25] Accordingly, the 
approved findings and sentence are 

AFFIRMED. 
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